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PROVIDING ESSENTIAL 
SERVICES DURING 
UNPRECEDENTED TIMES.

BATTLE CREEK BRANCH
5350 East Beckley Road

Battle Creek, MI 49015

COLDWATER MAIN OFFICE
51 West Pearl Street

Coldwater, MI 49036

COLDWATER WEST CHICAGO 
2 West Chicago Street

Coldwater, MI 49036

COLDWATER EAST CHICAGO 
*Drive Thru Location Only

441 East Chicago Street

Coldwater, MI 49036

CENTREVILLE BRANCH
235 East Main Street 

Centreville, MI 49032

CONSTANTINE BRANCH
345 North Washington Street

Constantine, MI 49042

HILLSDALE BRANCH
10 East Carleton Road

Hillsdale, MI 49242

I N  A D D I T I O N  TO  O U R  
N E A R BY  LO C AT I O N S ,  
S O U T H E R N  O F F E R S  A  
N U M B E R  O F  C O N V E N I E N T  
B R A N C H L E S S  B A N K I N G  
A LT E R N AT I V E S :
O N L I N E  &  M O B I L E  
B A N K I N G ,  O N L I N E  
M O R TG A G E  
A P P L I C AT I O N S ,  
T E L E P H O N E  B A N K I N G ,  
P E R S O N A L  T E L L E R  
M A C H I N E S  ( P T M )  &  M O R E

Scan the QR Code to find 

a location near you:

MARSHALL BRANCH
1110 West Michigan Avenue

Marshall, MI 49068

MENDON BRANCH
136 North Nottawa Street

Mendon, MI 49072

PORTAGE BRANCH
531 West Kilgore Road

Portage, MI 49024

PORTAGE TRADE CENTRE 
650 Trade Centre Way, Suite 120

Portage, MI 49002

TEKONSHA BRANCH
202 North Main Street

Tekonsha MI, 49092

THREE RIVERS BRANCH
225 US 131

Three Rivers, MI 49093

UNION CITY BRANCH
225 North Broadway Street

Union City, MI 49094

Our Locations

Wealth Management o�ces at 2 West Chicago Street, in Coldwater

Wealth Management o�ces at 2 West Chicago Street, in Coldwater
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No one could have foreseen the catastrophic events that 
unfolded early in 2020 as the global pandemic triggered a 

health and financial crisis of epic proportions.  The substantial 
number of employees laid off as restaurants, retailers and 
manufacturers reacted to customers quarantining, the 
pressure on health care providers, as well as the loss of life 
continues to be staggering.  

The Federal Reserve Board took immediate action in an 
attempt to avoid a recession by reducing interest rates twice 
in March, dropping the prime interest rate 150 basis points 
in total to 3.25 percent.  Other government programs were 
initiated, including the Small Business Administration’s (SBA) 
Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) providing loans to help 
employers keep their doors open and people employed as we 
worked through this crisis.  In banks, asset quality concerns 
loomed as many small companies, unable to withstand the 
financial stress, went out of business.  Even now, until vaccines 
are widely available and distributed, the economic recovery 
remains fragile.  

Uncertainty continues related to the longer-term impact of 
COVID-19 on the economy and how business and consumer 
loans will perform after government and bank programs 
expire.  We are hopeful that efforts to eliminate the virus will 
gain momentum during the first half of 2021, and that we will 
see signs of economic recovery in the second half of this year.

Message 
to our
Shareholders

JOHN CASTLE
CHAIRMAN AND CEO

J O H N  H.  C A S T L E ,  C H A I R M A N  A N D  C E O
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We are fortunate that our asset quality remained strong in 2020.  
The bank realized net loan loss recoveries of $5,000 for the year.  
Delinquent loans at December 31, 2020 totaled $4,588,000, or 
0.72 percent of gross loans.  Non-performing assets totaled 
$4,891,000 at December 31, 2020,  or 0.49 percent of total 
assets.  While we have not identified any concerns regarding 
our asset quality metrics, in anticipation of COVID-19 related 
economic distress, we increased provision expense and the 
Allowance for Loan Loss.  Southern’s provision for loan losses 
totaled $2,600,000 for 2020, an increase of $2,375,000 from 
$225,000 in provision expense in 2019.  The allowance for loan 
losses at December 31, 2020 was $7,789,000, or 1.22 percent of 
loans.  Excluding SBA guaranteed PPP loans from the calculation, 
the allowance was 1.35 percent of gross loans.

As we have in previous years, I am proud to highlight in our 2020 
Annual Report three important clients of the bank.  

Bucklin Family Dentistry is owned by Amanda Bucklin, DDS.  A 
former patient of Dr. David Rubley’s dental office since childhood, 
Dr. Bucklin completed her education and returned home to 
purchase the dental practice and start a family.   

Caywood Propane Gas, with origins dating back to the 1930s, 
is now a third-generation family business owned by brothers 
Chris and Mike Caywood, who have successfully grown and 
transitioned the business into a premier provider of propane gas 
throughout South Central Michigan.  

Hoekstra Roofing Company in Kalamazoo is also a third-
generation family business co-owned by Steve Hoekstra and Phil 
Wood and renowned for superior quality roofing solutions across 
the region.

I am proud of the way the employees and officers at Southern 
delivered on our commitments to our customers, businesses, 
shareholders, and communities during this unprecedented time.  
On behalf of Southern’s directors, management team and staff, 
thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

John H. Castle  
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. earned $7,386,000 in 2020, 
a decrease of $1,236,000, or 14.3 percent, compared to 
$8,622,000 earned in 2019.  Earnings per share were $3.21 for 
2020, compared to $3.74 in 2019.  Fourth quarter net income was 
$2,024,000, or $0.88 per share, an increase of $188,000 or 10.2 
percent, compared to $1,836,000, or $0.80 per share in the fourth 
quarter of 2019.  

Southern ended 2020 with record year-end total assets of $997.6 
million, which is $187.9 million higher than $809.7 million on 
December 31, 2019.  We exceeded $1 billion in asset footings 
for the first time in history in December and have averaged more 
than $1 billion in total assets during January 2021.  Loan totals 
also reached a new historic high, increasing to $635.9 million as 
of December 31, 2020, as compared to $562.9 million at year end 
2019.  Deposits finished the year strong as well, with a year-end 
record high of $838.3 million.  This was an increase of $182.5 
million over December 31, 2019 levels of $655.8 million. 

Southern’s return on average assets and return on average equity 
for 2020 was 0.82 percent and 8.36 percent, respectively.  Our 
return on average tangible equity, which is total shareholders’ 
equity, less goodwill and other intangibles, was 9.93 percent.  

Offsetting margin compression stemming from interest rate 
cuts was significant mortgage loan refinancing activity and fee 
revenue.  The Retail/Mortgage Lending Department generated 
$2,389,000 in gains on sale of mortgage loans originated and sold 
in the secondary market.  This represents an all-time high in loan 
sales and gain on sale revenue, and an increase of $1,706,000, or 
250 percent, compared to $683,000 of gains generated in 2019.  

Commercial lenders and support staff worked tirelessly to 
generate and fund PPP loans for small business clients across 
the region.  Fee revenue from the SBA totaled $1,290,000 and 
helped to compensate for less loan interest income as well. Nearly 
75 percent of the first round of PPP loans we initiated were less 
than $75,000 each.  At the time of this writing, we have initiated 
more than $110 million in total PPP loans, helping small business 
owners remain open and keep their employees on the payroll.  

“...W E  H AV E  I N I T I AT E D  M O R E  T H A N 
$110  M I L L I O N  I N  T O TA L  P P P  L O A N S , 
H E L P I N G  S M A L L  B U S I N E S S  O W N E R S 
R E M A I N  O P E N  A N D  K E E P  T H E I R 
E M P L OY E E S  O N  T H E  PAY R O L L .”
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AMANDA BUCKLIN, DDS
OWNER

Bucklin Family Dentistry

As a child growing up in Bronson, 
Michigan, Dr. Amanda Bucklin 

remembers going for regular checkups 
at Dr. David Rubley’s dental office in 
Coldwater. She especially remembers 
all of the University of Michigan décor he 
displayed in his office. What she could not 
know was the ways in which their paths 
would cross in the future. 

After graduating from Bronson High School, 
Dr. Bucklin studied at Kellogg Community 
College and received her dental hygiene 
degree, followed by earning a bachelor’s 
degree from Western Michigan University. 
From there, she attended the University of 
Michigan School of Dentistry.

After completing her training, Dr. Bucklin 
was an associate at a dental practice 
in Kalamazoo for five years. When she 
noticed an ad in the Michigan Dental 
Association Journal about a practice for 
sale in Coldwater, she discovered it was the 
office of her childhood dentist. Dr. Bucklin 
reached out to Dr. Rubley, and in 2013 
she officially purchased his practice and 
Bucklin Family Dentistry was announced.

Only one month into the transition, Dr. 
Bucklin was diagnosed with breast cancer. 
During this difficult time, Dr. Rubley was 
able to help fill in as needed for a year and 
a half until her treatments were completed.  
Thankfully, Dr. Bucklin is now cancer free, 

and she and her husband, Aaron, enjoy 
living and working back in their hometown 
area with their two daughters.

As a family-oriented practice, Bucklin 
Family Dentistry cares for patients as 
young as one year old, and currently has 
patients as old as ninety-eight. Dr. Bucklin 
takes pride in making sure that patients are 
not rushed through their appointments and 
likes to spend time with them to make sure 
a full examination is given. “To me, it’s not 
all about making money. I enjoy helping 
people - that is the biggest thing - making 
their smiles look good and addressing 
people’s concerns.” 

In the seven years that Dr. Bucklin has been 
practicing in Coldwater, she has taken the 
opportunity to renovate the office building 
and make many new upgrades within the 
dental practice.  Some of these upgrades 
include adding new computers and 
televisions to all the patient rooms, going 
to digital X-rays, and purchasing new 
equipment and dental chairs.  In 2021, she 
plans to complete an expansion to include 
additional space and increased staffing so 
she can provide services to more people in 
the community. She appreciates the small 
town feel her office of seven employees 
gives currently, and she wants to keep that 
close-knit feeling as her practice grows. 
When asked about adding another dentist, 
Dr. Bucklin reflected on her two young

C L I E N T  P R O F I L E

E X C E P T I O N A L ,  T H O R O U G H , 
H O M E T O W N  P A T I E N T  C A R E
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daughters as she said, “I want to be able 
to bring one of them on as an associate if 
they choose to go into the dental field like 
their mother.” 

Dr. Bucklin has a unique approach to 
advertising. She says a lot of what might 
be called “advertising money” is spent on 
supporting groups and organizations in the 
community instead. Her husband coaches 
basketball for Coldwater High School, so 
they are big athletic promotors and donors 
as well. Dr. Bucklin is a member of Women 
Who Care, a group in Coldwater who come 
together to distribute donations to local 
organizations in the area. This community-
oriented focus is a principle that Bucklin 
Family Dentistry shares with Southern 
Michigan Bank & Trust. “We always saw 
Southern out in the community, too,” she 
said, specifically remembering Southern 
being at the 4-H Fair animal auctions 
and supporting the youth by buying their 
livestock.  “It’s nice to see a local bank do 
that, giving back to so many organizations 
in our community.”

Dr. Bucklin had previously worked with 
a local community bank when she was 
in Kalamazoo, and eventually found 
herself looking for the same family-
type atmosphere in Coldwater to do her 
business banking. 

At first, she started with a larger bank, in 
which the practice was categorized as 
a “healthcare account,” dealing mostly 
with representatives from the “healthcare 
department.”   With no healthcare banker 
available at the local bank in town to 
communicate with, and the convenience of 
Southern being local and close to her office, 
she decided it was time to make a switch.  
The need for a small town community-
focused bank further influenced the switch 
to Southern. “I was apprehensive at first 
because when you have all your financial 
business at one place, the transition can 
be overwhelming, but I’m glad I did it,” said 
Dr. Bucklin. “Southern has always been 
very responsive at getting what we need 
done, especially during the COVID-19 
pandemic.  They make banking so simple 
and easy, and I appreciate that.” 

“It’s been a privilege working with Dr. 
Bucklin and her staff to get the banking 
services they need,” said Corey Donner, 
SMB&T vice president and commercial 
loan officer. “Her personal story of growing 
up in Bronson and then returning to raise 
her children here is exactly what makes our 
community so strong.” 

“ S O U T H E R N  H A S 
A LW AY S  B E E N  V E R Y 
R E S P O N S I V E  AT 
G E T T I N G  W H AT  W E  N E E D 
D O N E ,  E S P E C I A L LY 
D U R I N G  T H E  C O V I D -19 
PA N D E M I C.  T H E Y  M A K E 
B A N K I N G  S O  S I M P L E 
A N D  E A S Y,  A N D  I 
A P P R E C I AT E  T H AT.” 
-  D R .  B U C K L I N

Pictured to the right:
The Bucklin Family

Dentistry team
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Caywood Propane Gas, Inc.

CHRIS CAYWOOD
CO-OWNER

MIKE CAYWOOD
CO-OWNER

Caywood Propane is a third-generation 
family business with origins dating back 

to the 1930s. Co-owners Chris Caywood, 
president, and his brother, Mike, take pride 
in their family history with the business, as 
well as the efforts they have taken to bring 
their “mom and pop” store into the twenty-
first century with cutting edge technology. 
Caywood Propane’s story starts with their 
great uncle, Robert Varner, who converted 
his blacksmith shop in Pittsford, Michigan 
into a gas station as the rise in popularity 
of cars became more prevalent in the 
1930s. In 1940, their grandfather, Richard 
Varner, brother of Robert, and his wife, 
Dorothy, joined the gas station business 
and eventually took over the company in 
1947, adding home heating oil and fuel oil 
to their portfolio of products. 

In 1961, Chris and Mike’s parents, Jim and 
Dolores (Varner) Caywood opened the 
retail gas station Hudson Gas & Tire. This 
became the core of the family business 
during the 1960s and 1970s where Chris, 
Mike, and their brother Mitch serviced cars 
by checking oil and tires, and cleaning 
windshields. In 1980, Jim and Dolores 
acquired a petroleum distributorship that 
included wholesale distribution of gasoline 
to retail gas stations, home heating oil and 
fuel oil. They also acquired Richard and 
Dorothy’s distributorship business in

the early 1980s and merged it into their 
distribution operations. 

By 1984, Jim and Dolores Caywood 
decided to add propane to their products 
and services. After the sudden loss of 
their father in 1997, Mike and Chris, both 
practicing attorneys at the time, took over 
and successfully transitioned into a third-
generation business. Looking toward the 
future, they exited the home heating oil 
and transport distribution business, and in 
2005 propane became their sole product. 
By 2014, Caywood Propane began 
expanding geographically and by 2016, 
tripled their delivery footprint. Not only 
have they maintained success and growth, 
but they offer services that many of their 
competitors do not, such as a website and 
smartphone app that enables customers 
to check tank levels, order and pay for 
propane, look up their account history, 
and more. Caywood Propane proudly 
serves their customers’ needs by offering 
reliable, transparent, and value-priced 
products and services. They currently 
have office and propane storage locations 
in Hudson and Albion, along with a storage 
facility in Coldwater, Michigan. Most 
recently, Caywood Propane furthered their 
investment in Coldwater by purchasing a 
building in its historic downtown district. 
The future development will be comprised 

C L I E N T  P R O F I L E

C U S T O M E R  F O C U S E D  A N D 
T E C H N O L O G Y  D R I V E N
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of Caywood Propane offices combined 
with an inviting mixed-use retail space 
on the bottom floor, with apartment units 
above. 

Caywood Propane’s relationship with 
Southern began at the start of the 
COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 when 
its longstanding bank of over forty years 
proved to be unresponsive to some of the 
challenges posed by the pandemic. Mike 
Caywood had a relationship with Southern 
through his law practice, HaasCaywood 
PC, and suggested that Chris reach out 
to them, where he was directed to Jim 
Sobeske, vice president and commercial 
loan officer. Less than twenty-four hours 
after Chris contacted Jim, they were able 
to address the challenges. Impressed by 
the fast response and the broad range of 
services provided by Southern, Caywood 
Propane transitioned all of its banking 
needs to Southern.

The Business eServices products have 
created additional efficiencies in Caywood 
Propane’s processes. According to 
Sobeske, “They are the most electronically-
focused customers I’ve ever had and we 
were pleased that Southern was able to 
meet their substantial technology needs 
with products as well as customer support.”  

Chris said, “Southern has a lot of tools 
that are essential, but it is more than just 
the tools, it is about the service that stands 
behind the tools.” As with any transition, 
there can be bumps in the road. When 
challenges arose initially with syncing 
his accounting software to SMB&T’s 
online banking, Chris was impressed that 
Deanna Manville, assistant vice president 
and business eServices officer, and 
her team reached out to the software 
company directly. “She didn’t ask ‘why?’ 
she asked, ‘well, why not?’ and got the 
problem solved,” said Chris. He described 
the Business eServices team as “mission 
critical” for their ability to quickly resolve 
issues and continually bring solutions to 
the table. While living out-of-state in Florida 
and traveling frequently on business, Chris 
is able to log on to the SMB&T website 
and/or mobile app and easily perform his 
everyday business banking transactions 
and approvals, and review digital 
statements. “It’s one less worry in a busy 
day,” said Chris. 

Pictured above:
Caywood team members

perform a tank installation

Pictured to the right:
Bulk propane tank located

in Albion, MI

“ S O U T H E R N  H A S  A  L O T 
O F  T O O L S  T H AT  A R E 
E S S E N T I A L ,  B U T  I T  I S 
M O R E  T H A N  J U S T  T H E 
T O O L S ,  I T  I S  A B O U T  T H E 
S E R V I C E  T H AT  S TA N D S 
B E H I N D  T H E  T O O L S .” 
-  C H R I S  C AY W O O D
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Hoekstra Roofing Company

STEVE HOEKSTRA
CO-OWNER

PHIL WOOD
CO-OWNER

Serving Southwest Michigan for over 
106 years, Hoekstra Roofing Co. in 

Kalamazoo is a third-generation premier 
flat roofing and sheet metal business. Their 
reputation is well known throughout the 
region, with clients working only with them, 
including some companies who have 
been with them since the beginning. “I’ve 
actually had clients tell me over the years 
that they won’t solicit bids on a roofing 
job, but will just use Hoekstra again,” said 
Tom Schlueter, vice president of market 
development at Southern Michigan Bank 
& Trust. From schools to manufacturers, 
and healthcare organizations to large 
government buildings, their clients all have 
one thing in common: the need for a quality 
roof. And they know Hoekstra Roofing is 
the company to provide it. 

Raised in Portage, President and Co-
Owner Steve Hoekstra grew up with roofing 
in his family heritage and has managed 
the company for over thirty years. After 
completing his master’s degree, he left 
General Motors and offered to help out in 
the family business. In the time it took him 
to learn how to estimate roofing projects, 
he was hooked. 

Hoekstra Roofing Co. specializes in 
commercial flat roofing and provides
standing seam metal roof systems, roofing

related sheet metal flashings, and roof 
maintenance. With an experienced crew 
of over forty people and a fully-staffed 
service department, Hoekstra Roofing 
provides unparalleled customer service in 
their industry. 

Vice President and Co-Owner Phil Wood 
joined the company in 2005.  In 2015, Phil 
began working with Steve on an eight-
year plan to gradually transition from the 
family business to new ownership. Phil’s 
vision for the future of Hoekstra Roofing 
Co. is twofold - continue to grow market 
share by providing customers with high 
quality commercial roofing systems and 
exceptional customer service, and, “to 
create a better every day for our people 
and our partners.” Phil plans on taking 
the family values established by three 
generations of Hoekstras into the business 
with him. “We have an amazing team of 
people that we’ve assembled over the 
years,” he said. “Not just the guys out back, 
but our people in the office have fifteen to 
twenty years of experience and they do 
an amazing job. They get the job done no 
matter what we throw at them.” 

In 2017, Tom Lundquist joined the 
Hoekstra team as controller. Previously a 
commercial banker for thirty-two years, he 
had worked with Hoekstra for much of 

C L I E N T  P R O F I L E

H I G H  Q U A L I T Y  R O O F S  W I T H
E X C E P T I O N A L  C U S T O M E R  S E R V I C E
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that time. Knowing the company well and 
of their controller’s pending retirement,  
Steve and Tom began to discuss an 
opportunity.  “Hoekstra’s former controller 
was looking to retire, and after my career 
of many years in banking, it just kind of fell 
into place,” said Tom. “I was excited to do 
something different and it’s been great.” 
When Hoekstra’s previous bank began to 
seem less of a fit for the company, Tom 
knew there were options in the area for a 
bank that would take care of their needs. 

Tom Lundquist had known Tom Schlueter 
from Southern for years after working 
together at the same financial institution 
in the past. “Coming from commercial 
banking, I knew a lot of people at Southern. 
Our move had to do with the size of the 
bank, the members of the team, and their 
responsiveness. Their genuine interest in 
having us as a client was huge and they are 
great at taking care of what we need,” said 
Tom Lundquist. “Southern was able to help 
us with our loan and deposit needs, as well 
as online banking resources.”  

“I’ve had the pleasure of knowing Tom 
Lundquist and the Hoekstra Roofing Team 
for many years and it’s been an absolute 
pleasure to have them at Southern and 
for me to be their banker again,” said Tom 
Schlueter. “Steve, Phil, and Tom have

always provided our bank with consistent, 
timely and excellent financial information, 
which puts us in a position to quickly 
address any banking needs.”

Southern Michigan Bank & Trust’s 
approach to working with clients is similar 
to Hoekstra’s. “I enjoy that part of our 
relationship,” Steve said. “We have a 
dialogue. To me, all the banks may have 
similar products, but being able to have 
a team that works through any issues you 
have is huge. And that was what we were 
lacking. Southern’s platforms are good, 
they are exactly what we need, but it’s the 
people tied to the products that made the 
difference for me.” 

“ S O U T H E R N ’S 
P L AT F O R M S  A R E  G O O D, 
T H E Y  A R E  E X A C T LY 
W H AT  W E  N E E D,  B U T 
I T ’S  T H E  P E O P L E  T I E D 
T O  T H E  P R O D U C T S  T H AT 
M A D E  T H E  D I F F E R E N C E 
F O R  M E .” 
-  S T E V E  H O E K S T R A

Pictured above:
Hoekstra Roofing 

Company van

Pictured to the right:
Completed jobsite located

in West Michigan
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$26,677,000

2,600,000

8,378,000

23,666,000

7,386,000

$3.21

3.21

0.92

$997,574,000

635,870,000

7,789,000

838,298,000

26,500,000

92,977,000

0.82%

8.36%

12.68%

1.22%

FOR THE YEAR 
Net interest income 

Provision for loan losses

Non-interest income

Non-interest expense

Net income

PER SHARE
Basic earnings

Diluted earnings

Cash dividends declared

AT YEAR END
Assets

Gross loans

Allowance for loan loss

Deposits

Other borrowings

Shareholders’ equity

RATIOS
Return on average assets

Return on average equity

Total risk-based capital ratio

ALLL as percentage of loans

2020 2019
$26,126,000

225,000

7,655,000

23,247,000

8,622,000

$3.74

3.74

0.91

$809,716,000

562,864,000

5,184,000

655,762,000

37,500,000

83,345,000

1.09%

10.74%

12.62%

0.92%

Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. is a bank holding company.  The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Southern 
Michigan Bank and Trust (SMB&T) offers individuals, businesses, institutions and governmental agencies a full 
range of commercial banking services primarily in the southern Michigan communities in which they are located 
and in areas immediately surrounding these communities. 

Financial
Summary

F I N A N C I A L S
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 

The following discussion provides a review of the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of 
Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. (Southern) and its subsidiaries for the periods indicated.  This discussion should be 
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Overview 

 
Southern is a Michigan Corporation and registered financial holding company.  Southern wholly owns Southern 
Michigan Bank & Trust (the Bank), Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I (a Delaware statutory trust), SMB 
Risk Management, Inc. (a Nevada captive insurance company), and 27 Marshall Street, LLC.  The Bank wholly owns 
SMB Financial Services, Inc., a Michigan corporation. 
 
Our business, which we conduct primarily through the Bank, is concentrated in a single industry segment – commercial 
banking.  We offer a variety of deposit, payment, credit, and other financial services to all types of customers.  These 
services include time, savings, and demand deposits; safe deposit box services; and automated teller machine services.  
Loans, including both commercial and consumer, are extended primarily on a secured basis to corporations, 
partnerships, and individuals.  Commercial lending covers such categories as business, industrial, agricultural, 
construction, inventory, and real estate.  Consumer lending covers direct and indirect loans to purchasers of residential 
real property and consumer goods.  We offer trust and investment services, which include investment management, 
trustee services, IRA rollovers and retirement plans, institutional and personal custody, estate settlement, wealth 
management, estate planning assistance, wealth transfer planning assistance, charitable gift planning assistance, and 
cash management custody.  We operate thirteen banking offices located in Battle Creek, Centreville, Coldwater, 
Constantine, Hillsdale, Marshall, Mendon, Portage, Tekonsha, Three Rivers, and Union City, Michigan. 
 
At December 31, 2020, on a consolidated basis, we had assets of $998 million, deposits of $838 million, a loan 
portfolio of $636 million, trust assets under management totaling $312 million, and shareholders’ equity of $93 
million. 
 
Results of Operations 
 
Southern’s net income for 2020 was $7,386,000, compared to $8,622,000 in 2019, a decrease of $1,236,000, or -
14.34%.  Net interest income increased $551,000.  Provision for loan losses of $2,600,000 was expensed in 2020, up 
from $225,000 in 2019.  Non-interest income increased 9.44%, or $723,000, to $8,378,000 in 2020.  Non-interest 
expense increased 1.80%, or $419,000, to $23,666,000 in 2020.  The following is a summary of percentage changes 
from the prior year for various financial statement elements: 
 

 
Percent Change 
from Prior Year   

       Percent Change 
       from Prior Year 

 2020    2019      2020    2019    
Net interest income 2.11% 3.33%  Total assets 23.20% 9.59% 
Provision for loan losses 1,055.56% -10.00%  Securities available-for-sale 68.82% 21.68% 
Non-interest income 9.44% 18.59%  Gross loans 13.04% 6.03% 
Non-interest expense 1.80% 6.01%  Allowance for loan losses 50.25% 1.31% 
Federal income tax -16.83% 17.56%  Deposits 27.84% 8.23% 
Net income -14.34%    6.12%  Shareholders' equity 11.56% 10.35% 
 
Results of operations can be measured by various ratio analyses.  Two widely recognized performance indicators are 
return on average equity and return on average assets.  Southern’s return on average equity was 8.36% in 2020, 10.74% 
in 2019, and 11.21% in 2018.  The return on average assets was 0.82% in 2020, 1.09% in 2019, and 1.11% in 2018. 

 
 
 

 
 



18SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.

 

 

Net Interest Income 
 
Interest income is the total amount earned on funds invested in loans, investment securities, interest bearing 
correspondent bank balances, and federal funds sold.  Interest expense is the amount of interest paid on interest bearing 
checking and savings accounts, time deposits, short-term advances, subordinated debentures, and other long-term 
borrowings.  Net interest income, on a fully taxable equivalent (FTE) basis, is the difference between interest income 
and interest expense, adjusted for the tax benefit received on tax-exempt loan and investment securities.  Net interest 
margin is calculated by dividing net interest income (FTE) by average interest earning assets.  Net interest spread is 
the difference between the average yield on interest earning assets and the average cost of interest bearing liabilities.  
Because non-interest bearing sources of funds also support earning assets, the net interest margin exceeds the net 
interest spread. 
 
The presentation of net interest income on an FTE basis is not in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP), but is customary in the banking industry.  This non-GAAP measure ensures comparability of net 
interest income arising from both taxable and tax-exempt loans and investment securities.  The adjustments to 
determine tax equivalent net interest income are itemized in Table 1 on the following page. 
 
Net interest income is the most important source of Southern’s earnings.  Changes in Southern’s net interest income 
are influenced by a number of factors, including changes in the level of interest earning assets, changes in the mix of 
interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities, the level and direction of interest rates, and the steepness of the 
yield curve. 
 
For 2020, Southern’s net interest margin (FTE) was 3.24%, compared to 3.66% for 2019.  Southern’s interest rate 
spread was 3.04%, compared to 3.42% in 2019.  The decline in the interest spread was due to asset yields decreasing 
at a faster rate than funding costs in terms of basis point cost.  Declines in interest expense totaled $1,257,000, or 
20.0% when comparing 2020 to 2019.  The decline in interest income in 2020 compared to 2019 totaled $733,000, or 
2.2% on a tax-equivalent adjusted basis.  However, earning asset growth outpaced growth in interest bearing liabilities 
which resulted in a positive net effect to net interest income (FTE) of $524,000.  Interest income included Paycheck 
Protection Program fees of $1,290,000. 

 
For 2019, Southern’s net interest margin (FTE) was 3.66%, compared to 3.84% for 2018.  Southern’s interest rate 
spread was 3.42%, compared to 3.65% in 2018.  The decline in the margin and the interest spread was due to funding 
costs increasing at a faster rate than asset yields.  Growth in interest expense from interest bearing liabilities was 
43.7% in 2019, compared to 2018.  This outpaced the increase in interest income from earning assets, which grew 
9.0% in 2019, compared to 2018.  However, given the volume of interest income in relation to interest expense, the 
net effect remained positive as net interest income (FTE) increased $787,000, compared to 2018. 
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The following table presents a summary of net interest income (FTE) for 2020, 2019, and 2018. 
 

Table 1:  Average Balances and Tax Equivalent Interest Rates 
 2020  2019  2018 
(Dollars in Thousands) Average 

Balance 
  

Interest 
 Yield/ 

Rate 
 Average 

Balance 
  
Interest 

 Yield/ 
Rate 

 Average 
Balance 

  
Interest 

 Yield/ 
Rate 

ASSETS                           
Interest earning assets:                           
Loans(1)(2)(3) $ 610,113  $ 28,397  4.65 %  $ 543,718  $ 28,289  5.20 %  $ 532,056  $ 26,935  5.06 % 
Taxable investment securities(4)  124,989   2,482  1.99    84,795   2,185  2.58    61,911   1,328  2.15  
Tax-exempt investment securities(1)  28,811   816  2.83    25,489   786  3.08    39,732   1,118  2.81  
Federal funds sold and other(5)  67,736   314  0.46    68,737   1,482  2.16    35,440   659  1.86  
Total interest earning assets  831,649   32,009  3.85    722,739   32,742  4.53

  
   669,139   30,040  4.49  

                           
Non-interest earning assets:                           
Cash and due from banks  16,751         13,567         12,243       
Other assets(6)  59,903         56,644         54,833         
Less allowance for loan losses  (6,445  )       (5,157 )        (4,963 )      
                           
Total assets $ 901,858        $ 787,793        $ 731,252       
                           
LIABILITIES AND 
  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

                          

Interest bearing liabilities:                           
Demand deposits $  341,045  $ 1,529  0.45 %  $ 289,973  $ 2,207  0.76 %  $ 257,377  $ 1,209  0.47 % 
Savings deposits  83,565   44  0.05    81,810   116  0.14    90,077   95  0.11  
Time deposits  145,763   2,452  1.68    140,032   2,805  2.00    127,170   1,970  1.55  
Securities sold under agreements to 
   repurchase and overnight 
   borrowings 

 

15,695   32  0.20   

 

13,563   37  0.27    12,897   31  0.24 

 

Other borrowings  31,894   791  2.48    34,279   862  2.52    31,061   820  2.64  
Subordinated debentures  5,155   184  3.57    5,155   262  5.08    5,155   251  4.87  
Total interest bearing liabilities(7)  623,117   5,032  0.81    564,812   6,289  1.11    523,737   4,376  0.84  
                           
Non-interest bearing liabilities:                           
Demand deposits  178,866         136,429         129,923       
Other  11,522         6,236         5,079       
Shareholders’ equity  88,353         80,316         72,513       
Total liabilities and shareholders’ 
   equity 

 
$ 901,858 

        
$ 787,793 

        
$ 731,252 

      

Net interest income    $ 26,977        $ 26,453        $ 25,664    
Interest rate spread       3.04 %        3.42 %        3.65 % 
Net margin on interest earning assets       3.24 %        3.66 %        3.84 % 
  
(1) Includes tax equivalent adjustment of interest (assuming a 21% tax rate in 2020, 2019 and 2018) for securities and 

loans of $171,000 and $20,000, respectively, for 2020; $165,000 and $24,000, respectively, for 2019; and, $235,000 
and $23,000, respectively, for 2018. 

(2) Average balance includes average non-accrual loan balances of $3,868,000 in 2020, $4,348,000 in 2019, and 
1,275,000 in 2018.  

(3) Interest income includes loan fees of $2,014,000 in 2020, $459,000 in 2019, and $447,000 in 2018. 
(4) Average balance includes average unrealized gain of $2,598,000 in 2020, unrealized gain of $58,000 in 2019, and 

unrealized loss of $2,056,000 in 2018. 
(5) Includes average federal reserve deposit account balances of $63,198,000 in 2020, $64,365,000 in 2019, and 

$31,942,000 in 2018. 
(6) Includes $13,696,000 in 2020, $13,732,000 in 2019, and $13,737,000 in 2018 relating to goodwill and other 

intangible assets. 
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(7) Interest expense on deferred compensation balances totaling $109,000, $138,000, and $122,000 for 2020, 2019, 
and 2018, respectively, is excluded from interest expense. 

 
The next table sets forth, for the periods indicated, a summary of changes in interest income and interest 

expense.  The changes are based upon a tax equivalent basis resulting from changes in volume and changes in rates: 
 

• Volume Variance – change in volume multiplied by the previous year’s rate. 
 

• Rate Variance – change in rate multiplied by the previous year’s volume. 
 

• Rate/Volume Variance – change in volume multiplied by the change in rate.  This variance was allocated to 
volume variance and rate variance in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar amount of the 
change in each. 

 
Table 2:  Changes in Tax Equivalent Net Interest Income 
 
(Dollars in Thousands) 2020 Compared to 2019 

Increase (Decrease) Due To: 
 2019 Compared to 2018 

Increase (Decrease) Due To: 
 

Interest income on: Rate  Volume  Net  Rate  Volume  Net  
                   
Loans $ (3,151 ) $ 3,259  $ 108  $ 756  $ 598  $ 1,354  
Taxable investment securities  (579 )  876   297   302   555   857  
Tax-exempt investment securities  (67 )  97   30   99   (431 )  (332 ) 
Federal funds sold and other  (1,147 )  (21 )  (1,168 )  119   704   823  
                   
Total interest earning assets $ (4,944 ) $ 4,211  $ (733 ) $ 1,276  $ 1,426  $ 2,702  
                   
Interest expense on:                   
                   
Demand deposits $ (1,019 ) $ 341  $ (678 ) $ 829  $ 169  $ 998  
Savings deposits  (74 )  2   (72 )  30   (9 )  21  
Time deposits  (464 )  111   (353 )  621   214   835  
Securities sold under agreements to 
   repurchase and overnight 
   borrowings 

 

(10 )  5   (5 )  4   2   6  
Other borrowings  (12 )  (59 )  (71 )  (40 )  82   42  
Subordinated debentures  (78 )  -   (78 )  11   -   11  
                   
Total interest bearing liabilities $ (1,657 ) $ 400  $ (1,257 ) $ 1,455  $ 458  $ 1,913  
                   
Net interest income $ (3,287 ) $ 3,811  $ 524  $ (179)  $ 968  $ 789  
 
 
Provision for Loan Losses 
 
The provision for loan losses is based on an analysis of the required additions to the allowance for loan losses.  The 
provision is charged to income to bring the allowance for loan losses to a level believed adequate by management to 
absorb probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio.  Some factors considered by management in determining the 
level at which the allowance is maintained include the following: specific credit reviews; historical loan loss 
experiences; current economic conditions and trends; results of examinations by regulatory agencies; and, the volume, 
growth, and composition of the loan portfolio.  The provision is adjusted quarterly to reflect changes in the factors 
above, as well as actual charge-off experience and any known losses.  For further information, see “Allowance for 
Loan Losses” below. 
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The provision for loan losses was $2,600,000 in 2020, compared to $225,000 in 2019, and $250,000 in 2018.  The 
2020 provision was driven by an increase in qualitative factors associated with the Allowance for Loan and Lease 
methodology.  These increases were primarily related to economic uncertainty caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
2019 provision was due to growth in the loan portfolio.     
 
Net loan recoveries totaled $5,000 in 2020, compared to net charge-offs of $158,000 in 2019 and $142,000 in 2018. 
 
Non-Interest Income 
 
Total non-interest income increased $723,000, or 9.4%, when comparing 2020 to 2019.  The increase is primarily 
attributed to a $1,706,000, or 249.8%, increase in net gains on loan sales and a $83,000, or 5.7%, increase in ATM 
and debit card fee income.  Those improvements offset declines in service charges on deposit accounts of $630,000, 
or 31.5%; gains on the sale of investments of $366,000, or 100.0%; earnings on life insurance assets of $60,000, or 
13.5%; and, trust fees of $37,000, or 1.8%.   
 
Total non-interest income increased $1,200,000, or 18.6%, when comparing 2019 to 2018.  The increase is primarily 
attributed to $366,000 in gains on the sales of investments; a $252,000, or 14.4%, increase in service charges on 
deposit accounts; a $79,000, or 13.1%, increase in net gains on loan sales; and, a $54,000, or 13.9%, increase in 
earnings on life insurance assets.   
 
In order to reduce the risk associated with changing interest rates, Southern regularly sells fixed-rate real estate 
mortgage loans to the secondary market.  Southern recognizes a gain at the time of the sale to the extent proceeds 
exceed the basis of the loan, excluding any value assigned to capitalized servicing rights.  Southern originated real 
estate mortgage loans for sale in the secondary market of $63,080,000 in 2020, compared to $23,788,000 in 2019, and 
$19,675,000 in 2018.  Net gains on loan sales increased $1,706,000 when comparing 2020 to 2019, and increased 
$79,000 when comparing 2019 to 2018. 
 
Service charges on deposit accounts declined in 2020 compared to 2019 due to the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
Customers received stimulus monies, increased unemployment dollars, and had fewer opportunities to spend money 
in 2020.  The increase in service charges on deposit accounts in 2019 compared to 2018 primarily relates to the 
implementation of a new checking account product that charges additional fees to customers to compensate for the 
additional benefits provided.   
 
The decline in earnings on life insurance in 2020 was primarily due to life insurance policies paying out death benefits 
in excess of recorded cash values in 2019, which totaled approximately $55,000.   
 
No securities losses or gains were recognized in 2020.  Net securities gains of $366,000 were recognized in 2019 and  
net securities losses of $161,000 were recognized in 2018.  The gains in 2019 were recognized due to portfolio 
restructures done to move into more desirable investment sectors.  The losses in 2018 resulted from an investment 
portfolio restructure that would improve future portfolio earnings.   
 
Non-Interest Expense 
 
Non-interest expense increased $419,000, or 1.8%, when comparing 2020 to 2019.  Salary and employee benefit costs 
increased $793,000, or 6.6%, in 2020.  In addition, modest expense increases included occupancy ($135,000), FDIC 
assessments ($63,000) and ATM expense ($8,000).  Due to the implications of the Covid-19 pandemic, advertising 
and marketing expenses declined $230,000, or 51.3%.  Other more modest expense declines were noted in the 
following areas: professional and outside services ($85,000); printing, postage, and supplies ($42,000); equipment 
($25,000); and, software maintenance ($13,000).  
 
Non-interest expense increased $1,318,000, or 6.0%, when comparing 2019 to 2018.  Salary and employee benefit 
costs increased $985,000, or 7.7%, in 2019.  Salaries increased as the volume of full-time equivalent employees grew, 
primarily in lending/business development areas. In addition, health insurance costs increased 19.1%.   
Telecommunication expense increased $88,000, or 26.0%.  More modest expense increases included professional and 
outside services ($125,000), equipment expense ($55,000), software maintenance ($52,000), ATM expense ($48,000), 



22SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.

 

 

and printing, postage, and supplies ($19,000).  Expense declines were noted in the following areas: FDIC deposit 
assessments ($125,000) and occupancy expense ($22,000).  
 
Other non-interest expense decreased $169,000, or 10.3%, when comparing 2020 to 2019.  Gains on the sale of other 
real estate owned and fixed assets in 2020 were $82,000 above the losses recorded in 2019.  Additional declines were 
realized in Michigan Use Tax ($66,000) entertainment and business meals ($62,000), and travel (56,000).  Notable 
increases included FDIC Assessments ($63,000), total loan related expenses ($42,000) and correspondent banking 
charges ($35,000). 
 
Other non-interest expense increased $86,000, or 5.5%, when comparing 2019 to 2018.  The most significant factor 
in the increase was $42,000 in Michigan Use Tax being paid as a result of an audit completed by the state.   
 
Income Taxes 
 
Income tax provision was $1,403,000 in 2020, $1,687,000 in 2019, and $1,435,000 in 2018.  Tax-exempt income 
continues to have an impact on Southern’s income tax provision.  The benefit offsetting lower coupon rates on certain 
municipal instruments is the non-taxable feature of the income earned on such instruments.  This resulted in a lower 
effective tax rate and reduced the federal income tax provision by $144,000 in 2020, $140,000 in 2019, $194,000 in 
2018.  Furthermore, tax-exempt income from the captive insurance company reduced the federal income tax provision 
by $160,000 in 2020, $164,000 in 2019, and $146,000.  Finally, tax-exempt income from earnings on life insurance 
assets resulted in a lower effective tax rate and reduced the federal income tax provision by $81,000, $93,000 in 2019, 
and $82,000 in 2018.  Additional income tax information is reported in Note K of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Financial Condition 
 
Total assets were $997,574,000 as of December 31, 2020, an increase of $187,858,000, or 23.2%, compared to 
December 31, 2019.  Gross loans increased $71,835,000, or 12.7%, in 2020, with the growth occurring primarily in 
Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loans through the SBA.  The securities portfolio increased $84,944,000, or 68.8%, 
in 2020, with increases in mortgage backed and state and political subdivision securities.  Deposit volumes increased 
$182,536,000, or 27.8%, during 2020.  The growth occurred in non-interest bearing checking deposits, interest bearing 
checking deposits, money market demand accounts, and savings deposits, while time deposits declined.  Borrowings 
decreased $11,000,000, or 29.3%, in 2020.  The decline in borrowings were attributed to the maturity of a $10,000,000 
FHLB borrowing and the principal reduction of the term loan with United Banker’s Bank totaling $1,000,000. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2020, increased $30,887,000, or 44.9%, compared to balances at December 
31, 2019 due to deposit growth outpacing loan growth and funding in the securities portfolio.     

 
Federal Funds Sold 

 
Federal funds sold totaled $231,000 at December 31, 2019, compared to $265,000 at December 31, 2019.  The Bank 
sells excess overnight funds to its primary correspondent in lieu of maintaining the balances in interest bearing deposit 
accounts when there is a higher interest rate being paid by correspondents.  The Bank continues to hold excess funds 
in interest bearing deposit accounts due to the rate being paid.   
 
Securities Available-for-Sale 
 
The available-for-sale securities portfolio increased $84,944,000, or 68.8%, from December 31, 2019, to 
December 31, 2020.  The portfolio is monitored and securities are purchased as deemed prudent by the Asset Liability 
Management Committee (ALCO). 
 
The available-for-sale securities portfolio had an unrealized gain of $5,522,000 at December 31, 2020, and an 
unrealized loss of $66,000 at December 31, 2019.  At December 31, 2020, Southern had no investment in securities 
of issuers outside of the United States. 
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Loans 
 
Substantially all loans are granted to customers located in Southern’s service area, which is primarily southwest 
Michigan.  Gross loans increased $73,526,000, or 13.0% in 2020.  Gross loans increased $32,061,000, or 6.0%, in 
2019.  The increase in 2020 can be attributed the bank’s participation in the SBA’s PPP loan program.  At December 
31, 2020, $60,004,000 of PPP loans remained on the balance sheet.  The increases in 2019 were primarily a result of 
increased loan demand from the Portage region. 
 
Loan commitments consisting of unused credit card and home equity lines, available amounts on revolving lines of 
credit, and other approved loans that have not been funded were $195,060,000 and $146,651,000 at December 31, 
2020, and 2019, respectively.  The 2020 commitments consist of $43,747,000 in fixed-rate commitments and 
$151,313,000 in variable rate commitments. 
  
Nonperforming Assets 
 
Nonperforming assets include non-accrual loans, loans modified under troubled debt restructurings, accruing loans 
past due 90 days or more, and other real estate owned, which includes real estate acquired through foreclosures and 
deeds in lieu of foreclosure. 
 
A loan generally is classified as non-accrual when full collectability of principal or interest is doubtful, or a loan 
becomes 90 days past due as to principal or interest; unless management determines that the estimated net realizable 
value of the collateral is sufficient to cover the principal balance and accrued interest.  When interest accruals are 
discontinued, unpaid interest is reversed.  Nonperforming loans are returned to performing status when the loan is 
brought current and has performed in accordance with contract terms for a period of time. 

 
In the course of working with borrowers, Southern may choose to restructure the contractual terms of certain loans.  
In certain circumstances, Southern attempts to work out an alternative payment schedule with the borrower in order 
to optimize collectability of the loan.  Any loans that are modified are reviewed by Southern to identify if a troubled 
debt restructuring (TDR) has occurred, which is when, for economic or legal reasons related to a borrower’s financial 
difficulties, Southern grants a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider.  Terms may be modified 
to fit the ability of the borrower to repay in line with their current financial status, and the restructuring of the loan 
may include the transfer of assets from the borrower to satisfy the debt, a modification of loan terms, or a combination 
of the two.   
 
During 2020, Southern entered into loan modifications totaling $102,701,000 in accordance with interagency guidance 
in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  At the end of the year, all of those loans had returned to normal payment 
status.  Additional information regarding these restructures is included in Note D of the consolidated financial 
statements.   
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The following table sets forth the aggregate amount of nonperforming assets in each of the following categories: 
 
 December 31  
 2020  2019  2018  
Non-accrual loans: (Dollars in thousands)  
Commercial, commercial real estate, and agriculture $ 4,134  $ 3,276  $ 3,477  
Real estate mortgage  355   762   887  
Consumer  -   -   11  
  4,489   4,038   4,375  
Loans contractually past due 90 days or          
   more and still on accrual:          
Commercial, commercial real estate, and agriculture  -   79   96  
Real estate mortgage  -   -   -  
Consumer  -   -   -  
  -   79   96  
Accruing loans modified under troubled debt          
   restructurings:          
Commercial, commercial real estate, and agriculture  233   211   340  
Real estate mortgage  237   684   732  
Consumer  -   -   -  
  470   895   1,072  
          
Total nonperforming loans  4,959   5,012   5,543  
Other real estate owned  -   83   99  
          
Total nonperforming assets $ 4,959  $ 5,095  $ 5,642  
Nonperforming loans to year-end loans  0.78 %  0.89 %  1.04 % 
Nonperforming assets to total assets  0.50 %  0.63 %  0.77 % 
 

 
The balance of non-accrual restructured loans, which is included in non-accrual loans, was $2,938,000 at December 
31, 2020, $3,390,000 at December 31, 2019, $541,000 at December 31, 2018. 
 
Nonperforming loans are subject to continuous monitoring by management and estimated losses are specifically 
allocated for in the allowance for loan losses, where appropriate.  Nonperforming loans decreased from December 31, 
2019, to December 31, 2020.  At December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, Southern had loans of $5,450,000; $5,480,000; 
and, $6,100,000, respectively, which were considered impaired. 
 
Southern held no other real estate owned assets at December 31, 2020, compared to $83,000 at December 31, 2019.  
During 2020 and 2019, loans of $57,000 and $60,000, respectively, were transferred to other real estate owned. 

 
In management’s evaluation of the loan portfolio risks, any significant future increases in nonperforming loans are 
dependent largely on the economic environment.  In a deteriorating or uncertain economy, management applies 
assumptions that are more conservative when assessing the future prospects of borrowers and when estimating 
collateral values.  This may result in a higher number of loans being classified as nonperforming. 
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Allowance for Loan Losses 
 
The allowance for loan losses is based on quarterly assessments of the probable estimated incurred losses inherent in 
the loan portfolio.  The allowance is maintained at a level which, in management’s judgment, is believed adequate to 
absorb probable incurred loan losses in the loan portfolio.  While management uses the information available to make 
these estimates, future adjustments to the allowance may be necessary due to economic, operating, or regulatory 
conditions beyond Southern’s control. 

 
The allowance is based on two accounting standards: Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 450-10, Accounting 
for Contingencies, and ASC 310-10, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan.  The methodology used relies 
on several key features, including historical loss experience, specific allowances for identified problem loans, and a 
number of other factors recommended in regulatory guidance. 
 
The historical loss component of the allowance is based on considering historical loss experience for each loan 
category.  The component may be adjusted for significant factors that, in management’s judgment, will affect the 
collectability of the portfolio.  The resulting loss estimate could materially differ from the losses actually incurred in 
the future. 
 
Specific allowances are established in cases where management has identified significant conditions or circumstances 
related to a specific loan credit.  As of December 31, 2020, specific reserves totaled $524,000, compared to $508,000 
at December 31, 2019, an increase of $16,000. 

 
The final components of the allowance are based on management’s evaluation of conditions that are not directly 
measured in the historical loss component or specific allowances.  The evaluation of the inherent incurred loss with 
respect to these conditions is subject to a higher degree of uncertainty.  The conditions evaluated in connection with 
these components of the allowance include the following: current economic conditions; delinquency and charge-off 
trends; loan volume; portfolio mix; concentrations of credit; lending policies and procedures; changes in the loan 
review function; changes in underlying collateral; and, lending personnel. 
 
The allowance for loan losses was $7,789,000, or 1.22% of total loans, at December 31, 2020, compared to $5,184,000, 
or 0.92% of total loans, at December 31, 2019. 
 
The allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2020, consisted of $658,000 from the historical loss experience 
component and specifically allocated reserves, leaving $7,131,000 from the other factors.  This compares to $641,000 
from the historical loss experience component and specifically allocated reserves and $4,543,000 from the other 
factors at December 31, 2019.  The increase in the other factors component of the allowance for loan losses at 
December 31, 2020, as compared to December 31, 2019, is largely attributable to the economic uncertainties resulting 
from the COVID pandemic, the severity and duration of which remains unknown. 
 
At December 31, 2020, management was not aware of any problem loan that would have a material effect on loan 
delinquency or loan charge-offs.  Loans are subject to continual review and are given management’s attention 
whenever a problem situation appears to be developing. 
 
Deposits 
 
Deposits have traditionally represented Southern’s principal funding source.  Total deposits increased 27.8%, or 
$182,536,000 in 2020 compared to 2019, and increased 8.2%, or $49,869,000, in 2019 compared to 2018.  The 
majority of deposits are derived from core client sources, relating to long-term relationships with local individuals, 
businesses, and public clients.  A modest amount of brokered deposits, $5,651,000 at December 31, 2020, is 
maintained.  In addition, the Bank had $3,446,000 in listing service deposits as of December 31, 2020.  Attracting and 
keeping traditional deposit relationships will continue to be a focus of Southern. 
 
Other Borrowings  

 
Southern borrowed $10,000,000 in May 2017 from United Bankers Bank to fund a stock repurchase and provide a 
capital infusion into the Bank.  The note’s rate was fixed at 4.5% with a five-year term.  During December 2020, the 
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note was modified resulting in a 4.0% fixed rate fully amortizing loan that matures in May 2027.  At December 31, 
2020, $6,500,000 was outstanding on the term loan. 

 
As another funding source, Southern obtains advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB).  The advances are 
secured by a blanket collateral agreement with the FHLB giving them an unperfected security interest in select 1-4 
family mortgage and commercial real estate loans.  FHLB advances are used as an alternative funding source to paying 
a premium for long-term deposits.  At December 31, 2020, Southern had $20,000,000 in FHLB advances with interest 
rates between 1.73% and 1.96%, with a weighted average rate of 1.85%. 
 
Subordinated Debentures 
 
In March 2004, Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I, a trust formed by Southern, closed a pooled private 
offering of 5,000 trust preferred securities with a liquidation amount of $1,000 per security.  Southern issued 
$5,155,000 of subordinated debentures to the trust in exchange for ownership of all of the common securities of the 
trust and the proceeds of the preferred securities sold by the trust.  Southern is not considered the primary beneficiary 
of this trust, therefore the trust is not consolidated in Southern’s financial statements, but rather the subordinated 
debentures are shown as a liability.  Southern may redeem the subordinated debentures, subject to the receipt by 
Southern of the proper approval of the Federal Reserve, if such approval is required under applicable capital guidelines 
or policies of the Federal Reserve.  The subordinated debentures may be redeemed on January 7, April 7, July 7, and 
October 7 of each year and may occur either in whole or in integrals of $1,000 at 100% of the principal amount, plus 
accrued and unpaid interest.  The subordinated debentures mature on April 6, 2034.  The subordinated debentures are 
also redeemable in whole, but not in part, from time to time upon the occurrence of specific events defined within the 
trust indenture.  Southern has the option to defer interest payments on the subordinated debentures from time to time 
for a period, not to exceed 20 consecutive quarterly periods.  Southern’s investment in the common stock of the trust 
is $155,000 and is included in other assets. 
 
The $5,000,000 in trust preferred securities is included in Tier I capital (with certain limitations applicable) under 
current regulatory guidelines and interpretations.  The trust preferred securities and subordinated debentures have a 
variable rate of interest equal to the three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), plus 2.75%.  The rate at 
December 31, 2020, was 2.99%. 
 
Capital Resources 
 
Southern obtains funds for operating expenses and dividends to shareholders through dividends from the Bank.  In 
general, the Bank pays only those amounts required to meet the liquidity requirements of Southern, while maintaining 
appropriate capital levels at the Bank.  Capital is maintained at the Bank to support its current operations and projected 
future growth.  See additional discussion under the section titled “Liquidity” below. 
 
Shareholders’ equity increased $9,632,000, or 11.6%, from December 31, 2019, to December 31, 2020, and increased 
$7,818,000, or 10.4%, from December 31, 2018, to December 31, 2019.  The increase in 2020 was attributed to 
positive changes in retained earnings (net income less dividends) and other comprehensive income ($4,414,000) 
representing the net increase in unrealized gains on available for sale securities, net of tax.  The increase in 2019 was 
primarily attributable to net income offset by dividends to shareholders.   
 
The Federal Reserve Board uses capital adequacy guidelines in its examination and regulation of bank holding 
companies.  If capital falls below minimum guidelines, a bank holding company may, among other items, be denied 
approval to acquire or establish additional banks or non-bank businesses. 

 
The FDIC Improvement Act of 1991 established a system of prompt corrective action to resolve the problems of 
undercapitalized banks.  Under this system, federal banking regulators have established five capital categories in which 
all institutions are placed: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, 
and critically undercapitalized.  The FDIC has also specified by regulation the relevant capital levels for each of the 
categories. 
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The FDIC is required to take specified mandatory supervisory actions and is authorized to take other discretionary 
actions with respect to banks in the three undercapitalized categories.  The severity of the action depends upon the 
capital category in which a bank is placed.  Subject to a narrow exception, the FDIC must generally appoint a receiver 
or conservator for a bank that is critically undercapitalized.  A bank in any of the under-capitalized categories is 
required to submit an acceptable capital restoration plan to its appropriate federal banking agency.  An 
undercapitalized bank is also generally prohibited from paying any dividends, increasing its average total assets, 
making acquisitions, establishing any branches, or engaging in any new line of business, except under an accepted 
capital restoration plan or with FDIC approval. 
 
Failure to meet capital guidelines could subject a bank to a variety of enforcement remedies, including issuance of a 
capital directive, the termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC, a prohibition on accepting brokered deposits, and 
other restrictions on its business.  In addition, such a bank would generally not receive regulatory approval of any 
application that requires the consideration of capital adequacy, such as a branch or merger application, unless the bank 
could demonstrate a reasonable plan to meet the capital requirement within a reasonable time period. 
 
With the implementation of BASEL III in 2015, regulatory agencies granted banks a one-time election to determine 
whether the capital component created by the net unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale securities is included in 
Tier 1 capital.  Southern elected not to include the net unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale investments in Tier 
1 capital.  Therefore, the net unrealized gain or loss is not included in the capital ratios listed in Note U to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
As of December 31, 2020, the capital ratios of the Bank exceeded the minimum thresholds to be categorized as “well-
capitalized” under applicable regulations.  Note U of our consolidated financial statements provides additional 
information regarding our capital ratios.  
 
Liquidity 
 
Liquidity management involves the ability to meet the cash flow requirements of customers who may be either 
depositors wanting to withdraw funds or borrowers needing assurance that sufficient funds will be available to meet 
their credit needs.  Southern maintains certain levels of liquid assets (the most liquid of which are cash and cash 
equivalents, federal funds sold, and investment securities) in order to meet these demands.  Cash and equivalents, 
maturing loans, and investment securities are the principal sources of asset liquidity.  Liquidity is monitored and 
closely managed by the ALCO, whose members are comprised of senior management. 
 
Southern maintains correspondent accounts with regional and national banks for various purposes.  Historically, cash 
sufficient to meet the operating needs of the Bank’s branches is maintained at its lowest practical level. 
 
From time to time, Southern is a participant in the federal funds market.  Federal funds are generally borrowed or sold 
for one-day periods.  The average balance of federal funds sold was $271,000 in 2020 and $1,246,000 in 2019.  During 
2020 and 2019, Southern averaged $63,198,000 and $64,365,000, respectively, on deposit at the Federal Reserve. 
 
In the past, Southern has used overnight federal funds lines of credit with correspondent banks as a short-term source 
of liquidity.  As of December 31, 2020, Southern had $66 million in line of credit availability, including $38 million 
of overnight federal funds lines, with three correspondent banks.  In addition, collateral has been pledged at the Federal 
Reserve Bank “Discount Window.”  Southern also has the ability to borrow $61 million from the Federal Home Loan 
Bank based on collateral pledged.  Southern has $171 million of unencumbered securities, which could be pledged at 
the Federal Home Loan Bank or Federal Reserve Discount Window to secure additional borrowing capacity. 
 
Southern’s principal source of funds to pay cash dividends is the dividends paid by the Bank from its earnings.  
Dividend amounts are restricted under current banking laws and regulations.  Capital guidelines adopted by federal 
and state regulatory agencies, as well as restrictions imposed by law, limit the amount of cash dividends the Bank can 
pay to Southern.  At December 31, 2020, using the most restrictive of these conditions, the aggregate cash dividends 
the Bank could pay Southern without prior regulatory approval was $21.1 million. 
 
 
 



28SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.

 

 

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices 
 
The majority of assets and liabilities of a financial institution are monetary in nature and differ greatly from most 
commercial and industrial companies that have significant investments in fixed assets or inventories.  However, 
inflation does have an important impact on the growth of total assets in the banking industry and the resulting need to 
increase equity capital at higher than normal rates in order to maintain an appropriate equity-to-assets ratio.  Another 
significant effect of inflation is on other expenses, which tend to rise during periods of general inflation. 
 
Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Risk 
 
Southern maintains off-balance sheet financial instruments in the normal course of business to meet the financing 
needs of its customers.  These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, letters of credit, and 
standby letters of credit.  Loan commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to customers at any time, as the 
customers’ needs vary, as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract.  Letters of credit 
are used to facilitate customers’ trade transactions.  Under standby letters of credit agreements, Southern agrees to 
honor certain commitments in the event that its customers are unable to do so.  Commitments generally have fixed 
expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  Because many of the commitments 
are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements.  At December 31, 2020, Southern had loan commitments of $195,060,000; $13,161,000 in standby 
letters of credit; and, no commitments under commercial letters of credit outstanding. 
 
These arrangements have credit risk similar to that involved in extending loans to customers and are subject to 
Southern’s normal credit policies.  Collateral generally consists of receivables, inventory, and equipment and is 
obtained based on management’s credit assessment of the customer.  These financial instruments are recorded when 
they are funded. 
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity 
 
Net interest income is the largest component of Southern’s earnings.  Net interest income is the difference between 
the yield on interest earning assets and the cost of interest bearing liabilities.  Management of interest rate sensitivity 
seeks to avoid fluctuating net interest margins and enhance consistent growth of net interest income through periods 
of changing interest rates. 
 
Interest rate risk arises when the maturity or repricing characteristics of assets differ significantly from the maturity 
or repricing characteristics of liabilities.  Accepting this risk can be an important source of profitability and shareholder 
value.  However, excessive levels of interest rate risk could pose a significant threat to Southern’s earnings and capital 
base.  Accordingly, effective risk management that maintains interest rate risk at prudent levels is essential to 
Southern’s safety and soundness. 
 
A number of tools are used to monitor and manage interest rate risk, including income simulation and market value 
of equity analyses.  The income simulation model is used to estimate the effect that specific interest rate changes 
would have on net interest income.  The changes include ramped and shocked increases of 1%, 2%, 3%, and 4% to 
interest rates on both a static and dynamic balance sheet over 12 and 24 month timeframes.  A 1% and 2% declining 
scenario was also modeled at December 31, 2020.  Assumptions in the simulation are based on management’s 
estimates, and are inherently uncertain.  As a result, the models cannot predict precisely the impact of higher or lower 
interest rates on net interest income.   
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The simulation’s effect on net interest income is shown in the table below: 
 

Ramp Change/ 
Dynamic 

 12 Month 
% Change 

 24 Month 
% Change 

 Ramp Change/ 
Static 

 12 Month 
% Change 

 24  Month  
% Change 

+400  9.72%   16.13%  +400   8.87%   15.29% 
+300   7.16%  12.13%  +300   6.52%   11.50% 
+200   4.74%   8.10%  +200   4.32%   7.69% 
+100   2.33%   4.08%  +100   2.11%   3.88% 

           
-100  1.12%   1.07%  -100   0.83%   0.48% 
-200  -0.78%   0.01%  -200          0.32%    -0.49% 
-300  NA  NA  -300  NA  NA 
-400  NA  NA  -400  NA  NA 

           
Shock Change/ 

Dynamic 
 12 Month      

% Change 
 24 Month      

% Change 
 Shock Change/ 

Static 
 12 Month 

% Change 
 24 Month 

% Change 
+400    17.89%    21.87%  +400    16.67%    20.00% 
+300    13.40%    16.48%  +300    12.49%    15.09% 
+200    8.64%    10.88%  +200    8.03%    9.96% 
+100     3.95%    5.32%  +100    3.64%    4.86% 

           
-100    1.25%    0.67%  -100    0.71%    0.09% 
-200  0.07%   -0.71%  -200   -0.34%   -1.10% 
-300  NA  NA  -300  NA  NA 
-400  NA  NA  -400  NA  NA 

 
The market value of equity analysis estimates the change in the market value of equity using interest rate change 
scenarios from +4% to –4% in 1% increments.  Only a 100 bp decline was modeled at December 31, 2020.  The 
following table illustrates the percent change in equity based on changes in market interest rates: 
 
 Change in 

market 
value of equity 

 

4% increase in market rates  19.31%   
3% increase in market rates  15.32%   
2% increase in market rates  10.79%   
1% increase in market rates  5.86%   
    
No change  0.00%   
    
1% decrease in market rates  -10.26%   
2% decrease in market rates            NA   
3% decrease in market rates  NA   
4% decrease in market rates  NA   
 
Management continues to monitor the ratios and report the results to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. 
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Critical Accounting Policies 
 
The discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations are based upon Southern’s consolidated 
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires Southern to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial statements.  Actual results may 
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 
 
Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective of significant judgments and uncertainties, and 
potentially could result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. A summary of 
significant accounting policies of Southern are detailed in Note A to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Allowance for Loan Losses 
 
The allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level management believes is adequate to absorb probable, incurred 
credit losses inherent in Southern’s loan portfolio.  Accounting for loan classification, accrual status, and 
determination of the allowance for loan losses is based on regulatory guidance.  This guidance includes, but is not 
limited to, generally accepted accounting principles, the uniform retail credit classification and account management 
policy issued by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, and the joint policy statement on the 
allowance for loan loss methodologies also issued by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council.  Using 
this guidance, management estimates the allowance balance based on past loan loss experience, nature and volume of 
the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations and estimated collateral values, economic conditions, 
information in regulatory examination reports, and other factors.  Many of the factors listed are inherently subjective 
and require the use of significant management estimates. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
Southern uses fair value measurements to record certain financial instruments and to determine fair value disclosures.  
Available-for-sale securities are financial instruments recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.  Additionally, 
Southern may be required to record at fair value other financial assets on a nonrecurring basis.  These nonrecurring 
fair value adjustments typically involve write-downs of, or specific reserves against, individual assets.  ASC 820-10-
55 establishes a three-level hierarchy for disclosure of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.  The classification 
of assets and liabilities within the hierarchy is based on whether the inputs to the valuation methodology used in the 
measurement are observable or unobservable.  Observable inputs reflect market driven or market-based information 
obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect management’s estimates about market data. 
 
The degree of management’s judgment involved in determining the fair value of a financial instrument is dependent 
upon the availability of quoted market prices or observable market data.  For financial instruments that trade actively 
and have quoted market prices or observable market data, there is minimal subjectivity involved in measuring fair 
value.  When observable market prices and data are not fully available, management’s judgment is necessary to 
estimate fair value.  In addition, changes in the market conditions may reduce the availability of quoted prices or 
observable data.  When market data is not available, management uses valuation techniques that require more 
judgment to estimate the appropriate fair value measurement.  Fair value is discussed further in Note A under the 
heading “Fair Values of Financial Instruments” and in Note T, “Fair Value Measurements”, of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Mortgage Servicing Rights 
 
Mortgage servicing rights represent the allocated value of servicing loans that are sold with servicing retained by 
Southern.  Servicing rights are expensed in proportion to, and over the period of, estimated net servicing revenues.  
Management’s accounting treatment of loan servicing rights is estimated utilizing a discounted cash flow model to 
determine the value of its servicing rights.  The valuation model utilizes mortgage prepayment speeds, the remaining 
life of the mortgage pool, delinquency rates, our cost to service loans, and other factors to determine the cash flow 
that we will receive from servicing each grouping of loans.  These cash flows are then discounted based on current 
interest rate assumptions to arrive at the fair value for the right to service those loans. 
 



31 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

 

 

Acquisition Intangibles 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require a determination of the fair value of all of the assets and liabilities of 
an acquired entity, and a recording of their fair value on the date of acquisition.  A variety of means are employed in 
determination of fair value, including the use of discounted cash flow analyses, market comparisons, and projected 
future revenue streams.  Once valuations have been adjusted, the net difference between the price paid for the acquired 
company and the value of its balance sheet is recorded as goodwill.  Goodwill is subject to an impairment analysis, 
performed at least annually.  Southern has elected to perform its annual goodwill impairment test as of November 30 
each year.  No material issues were noted during December 2020 that would have impacted the analysis within the 
goodwill impairment test. 



32SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.

 

 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
Management of Southern has prepared and is responsible for the accompanying consolidated financial statements and 
for their integrity and objectivity.  In the opinion of management, the financial statements, which necessarily include 
amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments, have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, on a consistent basis.  Management also prepared the 
other information in the Annual Report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the financial 
statements. 
 
Southern maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded and that transactions are executed in accordance with Southern’s authorizations and policies.  Further, 
such a system provides reasonable assurances as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements which fairly 
present financial position and results of operations in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  Internal accounting controls are augmented by written policies covering standards of 
personal and business conduct and an organizational structure providing for division of responsibility and authority. 
 
Management monitors the effectiveness of and compliance with established control systems through a continuous 
program of internal audit and credit examinations and recommends possible improvements thereto.  Management 
believes that, as of December 31, 2020, Southern’s system of internal controls has prevented or detected on a timely 
basis any occurrences that could be material to the financial statements and that timely corrective actions have been 
initiated when appropriate. 
 
The Board of Directors exercises its responsibility for the financial statements and related information through the 
Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of outside directors.  The Audit Committee meets regularly with 
management and CliftonLarsonAllen LLP.  CliftonLarsonAllen LLP has direct and confidential access to the Audit 
Committee to discuss the results of their audit. 
 
The 2020 consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm of 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including 
minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors, and committees of the Board.  Management believes 
that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate.  
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP’s Auditor’s Report is presented on the following page. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John H. Castle 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

  
 
 
Danice L. Chartrand 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
February 12, 2021 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(In thousands, except share data) 
 
 December 31,  
 2020  2019  
ASSETS       
Cash $ 7,062  $ 5,966  
Due from banks  92,548   62,757  
     Cash and cash equivalents  99,610   68,723  
Federal funds sold  231   265  
Securities available-for-sale  208,380   123,436  
Loans held for sale  1,691   1,171  
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $7,789 – 2020 ($5,184 – 2019)  628,081   557,680  
Premises and equipment, net  13,698   14,515  
Accrued interest receivable  4,749   3,380  
Cash surrender value of life insurance  16,016   15,633  
Goodwill  13,422   13,422  
Other intangible assets, net  255   291  
Other assets  11,441   11,200  
     Total Assets $ 997,574  $ 809,716  
       
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
Liabilities:       
     Deposits       
          Non-interest bearing $ 220,786  $ 136,430  
          Interest bearing  617,512   519,332  
               Total deposits  838,298   655,762  
     Securities sold under agreements to repurchase and overnight 
        borrowings 

 
20,083 

  
15,401 

 

     Accrued expenses and other liabilities  14,561   12,553  
     Other borrowings  26,500   37,500  
     Subordinated debentures  5,155   5,155  
          Total Liabilities  904,597   726,371  
       
       
Shareholders’ Equity:       
     Preferred stock, 100,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding  -   -  
     Common stock, $2.50 par value:       
          Authorized – 10,000,000 shares in 2020 and 5,000,000 shares in 2019       
          Issued and outstanding – 2,301,269 shares in 2020       
               (2,314,878 shares in 2019)  5,748   5,781  
     Additional paid-in capital  15,416   15,521  
     Retained earnings  67,741   62,484  
     Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), net  4,362   (52 ) 
     Unearned Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) shares  (290 )  (389 ) 
          Total Shareholders’ Equity  92,977   83,345  
     Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 997,574  $ 809,716  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(In thousands, except per share data) 
 
 Year Ended December 31,  
 2020  2019  2018  
Interest income:          
     Loans, including fees $ 28,377  $ 28,265  $ 26,912  
     Securities:          
          Taxable  2,482   2,185   1,328  
          Tax-exempt  645   621   883  
     Other  314   1,482   659  
          Total interest income  31,818   32,553   29,782  
Interest expense:          
     Deposits  4,025   5,128   3,274  
     Other  1,116   1,299   1,224  
          Total interest expense  5,141   6,427   4,498  
Net Interest Income  26,677   26,126   25,284  
Provision for loan losses  2,600   225   250  
Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan Losses  24,077   25,901   25,034  
          
Non-interest income:          
     Service charges on deposit accounts  1,373   2,003   1,751  
     Trust fees  2,048   2,085   2,027  
     Net securities gains/(losses)  -   366   (161 ) 
     Net gains on loan sales  2,389   683   604  
     Earnings on life insurance assets  383   443   389  
     ATM and debit card fees  1,543   1,460   1,422  
     Other  642   615   423  
          Total non-interest income  8,378   7,655   6,455  
          
Non-interest expense:          
     Salaries and employee benefits  14,580   13,828   12,843  
     Occupancy, net  1,519   1,384   1,406  
     Equipment  1,180   1,205   1,150  
     Printing, postage, and supplies  386   428   409  
     Telecommunication  451   426   338  
     Professional and outside services  1,532   1,617   1,492  
     Software maintenance  1,552   1,565   1,513  
     Amortization of other intangibles  36   36   33  
     ATM expenses  578   570   522  
     Advertising and marketing  218   448   444  
     Other  1,634   1,740   1,779  
          Total non-interest expense  23,666   23,247   21,929  
Income before income taxes  8,789   10,309   9,560  
Income tax provision  1,403   1,687   1,435  
Net Income $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
Basic Earnings Per Common Share $ 3.21  $ 3.74  $ 3.52  
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share $ 3.21  $ 3.74  $ 3.51  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(In thousands) 
 
                                   Year Ended December 31,  
   2020  2019  2018  
             
Net Income    $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
             
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):             
       Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale                           
          securities     5,588   1,947   (879 ) 
       Reclassification adjustments for net realized             
          securities (gains)/losses included in net income     -   (366 )  161  
                       5,588   1,581   (718 ) 
       Income tax effect     (1,174 )  (332 )  151  
             
                 Other comprehensive income (loss)     4,414   1,249   (567 ) 
             
Total Comprehensive Income    $ 11,800  $ 9,871  $ 7,558  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
(In thousands, except number of shares and per share data) 
 
Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018: 

  
 
 

Common 
Stock 

  
 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

  
 
 

Retained 
Earnings 

 Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

(Loss), Net 

  
 

Unearned 
ESOP 
Shares 

  
 
 
 

Total 

 

Balance at January 1, 2018 $ 5,787  $ 15,415  $ 49,747  $ (613 ) $ (299 ) $ 70,037  
Net income for 2018        8,125         8,125  
Other comprehensive loss           (567 )     (567 ) 
Reclass tax rate change effect on unrealized 

gain/loss 
 

      121   (121 )    
 

-  
Cash dividends declared – $.87 per share        (2,021 )        (2,021 ) 
Issuance of restricted stock (12,200 shares of  
   common stock at $37.15 per share) 

 
31   (31 )          

 
-  

Vesting of restricted stock     738             738  
Restricted stock forfeiture           (2 )  2            -  
Stock options exercised (22,355 shares)  56   415            471  
Repurchase of common stock (35,346 shares)  (89 )  (1,366 )           (1,455 ) 
Net decrease in ESOP obligation              126   126  
Stock option expense     73            73  
                   
Balance at December 31, 2018  5,783   15,246   55,972   (1,301 )  (173 )  75,527  
Net income for 2019        8,622         8,622  
Other comprehensive income           1,249      1,249  
Cash dividends declared – $.91 per share        (2,110 )        (2,110 ) 
Issuance of restricted stock (14,100 shares of  
   common stock at $38.00 per share) 

 
35   (35 )          

 
-  

Vesting of restricted stock     745            745  
Restricted stock forfeiture  (1 )  1            -  
Stock options exercised (150 shares)     3            3  
Repurchase of common stock (14,497 shares)  (36 )  (526 )           (562 ) 
Net increase in ESOP obligation              (216 )  (216 ) 
Stock option expense     87            87  
                   
Balance at December 31, 2019  5,781   15,521   62,484   (52 )  (389 )  83,345  
Net income for 2020        7,386         7,386  
Other comprehensive income           4,414      4,414  
Cash dividends declared – $.92 per share        (2,129 )        (2,129 ) 
Issuance of restricted stock (14,200 shares of  
   common stock at $37.60 per share) 

 
36   (36 )          

 
-  

Vesting of restricted stock     776            776  
Stock options exercised (250 shares)  1   2            3  
Repurchase of common stock (28,059 shares)  (70 )  (938 )           (1,008 ) 
Net decrease in ESOP obligation              99   99  
Stock option expense     91            91  
                   
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 5,748  $ 15,416  $ 67,741  $ 4,362  $ (290 ) $ 92,977  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



38SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.

SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(In thousands) 
 Year ended December 31,  
 2020  2019  2018  
Operating Activities          
     Net income $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
     Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash          
       from operating activities:          
          Provision for loan losses  2,600   225   250  
          Depreciation of premises and equipment  1,431   1,369   1,300  
          Deferred income taxes  (1,292 )  (95 )  (81 ) 
          Amortization of other intangible assets  36   36   33  
          Net amortization of available-for-sale securities  637   482   356  
          Stock option and restricted stock grant compensation expense  867   832   811  
          Net (gains)/losses on security calls and sales   -   (366 )  161  
          Loans originated for sale  (63,080 )  (23,788 )  (19,675 ) 
          Proceeds on loans sold  64,418   23,300   20,794  
          Net gains on loan sales  (2,389 )  (683 )  (604 ) 
          Gain from life insurance  -   (55 )  -  
          Net (gain) loss from sale or write down of other real estate owned  (19 )  10   (40 ) 
          Net (gain) loss on disposal of premises and equipment  (21 )  31   (1 ) 
     Net change in obligation under ESOP  99   166   126  
     Net change in:          
               Accrued interest receivable  (1,369 )  (86 )  (83 ) 
               Cash surrender value  (383 )  (388 )  (389 ) 
               Other assets  968   100   (857 ) 
               Accrued expenses and other liabilities  1,367   422   1,832  
          Net cash from operating activities  11,256   10,134   12,058  
          
Investing Activities          
     Activity in available-for-sale securities:          
          Proceeds on securities sold  -   79,990   9,458  
          Proceeds from maturities and calls  21,208   14,918   10,854  
          Purchases  (101,202 )  (115,439 )  (17,802 ) 
     Net change in federal funds sold  34   800   17,427  
     Loan originations and payments, net  (73,058 )  (31,108 )  (8,750 ) 
     Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned  160   128   106  
     Acquisition of investment advisory firm  -   -   (360 ) 
     Purchase of life insurance  -   -   (500 ) 
     Proceeds from life insurance  -   495   -  
     Proceeds from sale of equipment  40   51   15  
     Additions to premises and equipment  (633 )  (1,887 )  (1,345 ) 
          Net cash from investing activities  (153,451 )  (52,052 )  9,103  
          
Financing Activities          
     Net change in deposits  182,536   49,869   28,749  
     Net change in securities sold under agreements to repurchase and 
       overnight borrowings  4,682   59   1,392  
     Proceeds from other borrowings  -   10,000   30,000  
     Repayments of other borrowings  (11,000 )  (1,000 )  (41,000 ) 
     Stock options exercised  3   3   471  
     Purchase of ESOP shares  -   (382 )  -  
     Cash dividends paid  (2,131 )  (2,087 )  (1,998 ) 
     Repurchase of common stock  (1,008 )  (562 )  (1,455 ) 
          Net cash from financing activities  173,082   55,900   16,159  
          
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents  30,887   13,982   37,320  
Beginning cash and cash equivalents  68,723   54,741   17,421  
Ending Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 99,610  $ 68,723  $ 54,741  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Nature of Operations and Industry Segments:  Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. (the Company) is a Michigan 
corporation and registered financial holding company.  The Company’s principal activity is the ownership and 
management of its wholly-owned subsidiary bank, Southern Michigan Bank & Trust (the Bank).  The Bank offers 
individuals, businesses, institutions, and government agencies a full range of commercial banking services.  The 
customer base is located primarily in the southwest Michigan communities in which the Bank has branches, and in 
areas immediately surrounding these communities.  The Bank makes commercial and consumer loans to customers.  
The majority of loans are secured by business assets, commercial and residential real estate, and consumer assets.  
There are no foreign loans. 
 
Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries: SMB Risk Management, Inc.; 27 Marshall Street, LLC; and, the Bank.  On November 18, 
2015, 27 Marshall Street, LLC was formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company to own a parcel of real 
estate.  On May 31, 2016, SMB Risk Management, Inc., a captive insurance company incorporated in Nevada, was 
formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.  During 2004, the Company formed a special purpose trust, 
Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I, for the sole purpose of issuing trust preferred securities.  Under generally 
accepted accounting principles, the trust is not consolidated into the financial statements of the Company.  All inter-
company transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Use of Estimates:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  Estimates that are more susceptible to change in the near term include the allowance for loan losses, 
deferred tax assets and fair values of securities. 
 
Securities:  Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase.  If 
management has the intent and the Company has the ability at the time of purchase to hold securities until maturity, 
they are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized historical cost.  Securities to be held for an 
undeterminable period of time and not intended to be held until maturity are classified as available-for-sale and carried 
at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax.  Securities 
classified as available-for-sale include securities that management intends to use as part of its asset/liability 
management strategy and that may be sold in response to changes in interest rates, prepayment risk, and other factors.  
There were no held-to-maturity securities as of December 31, 2020, or 2019. 
 
Premiums and discounts on securities are recognized in interest income using the level yield method over the estimated 
life of the security.  Gains and losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities are determined using the specific 
identification method.  Securities are written down to fair value and reflected as a loss when a decline in fair value is 
not temporary.  In estimating other than temporary losses, management considers: (1) the length of time and extent 
that fair value has been less than cost; (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; and, (3) the 
fact that the Company has the intention and the ability to hold the security to maturity. 
 
Loans Held for Sale:  Loans held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or market value in the aggregate.  Net 
unrealized losses are recorded in a valuation allowance by charges to income. 
 
Loans:  Loans are reported at the principal balance outstanding; net of unearned interest; deferred loan fees and costs; 
and, an allowance for loan losses.  Interest income is reported on the interest method and includes amortization of net 
deferred loan fees and costs over the loan term. 
 
Interest income is not reported when full loan repayment is in doubt, typically when payments are past due over 90 
days, unless the loan is both well secured and in the process of collection.  Past due status is based on the contractual 
terms of the loan.  All interest accrued, but not received, for these loans is reversed against interest income.  Payments 
received on such loans are reported as principal reductions until qualifying for return to accrual.  Loans are returned 
to accrual status when all the principal and interest contractually due are brought current and future payments are 
reasonably assured. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for Loan Losses:  The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit 
losses, increased by the provision for loan losses and decreased by charge-offs, net of recoveries.  Estimating the risk 
of loss and the amount of loss on any loan is necessarily subjective.  Management estimates the allowance balance 
based on past loan loss experience, nature and volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations 
and estimated collateral values, economic conditions, information in regulatory examination reports, and other factors.  
Allocations of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire allowance is available for any loan that, in 
management’s judgment, should be charged off.  Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management 
believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed.  The allowance consists of specific and general 
components.  The specific component relates to loans that are individually classified as impaired. 
 
Loans are considered impaired when full contractual payment under the loan terms is not expected.  Impairment is 
measured in total for smaller-balance loans of similar nature, such as residential mortgage and consumer loans, and 
on an individual loan basis for other loans.  If a loan is determined to be impaired, a portion of the allowance is 
allocated so that the loan is reported, net, at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s effective 
interest rate or at the fair value of collateral, if repayment is collateral dependent.  Loans are evaluated as potentially 
impaired when payments are delayed, typically 90 days or more, or when it is probable, in the judgment of 
management, that all principal and interest amounts will not be collected according to the original terms of the loan. 
 
Consumer loans are typically charged off no later than when they become 120 days past due.  Real estate mortgage 
loans in the process of collection are charged off on or before they become 365 days past due.  Commercial loans are 
charged off promptly upon the determination that all or a portion of any loan balance is uncollectible.  In all cases, 
loans are placed on nonaccrual status or charged off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered 
doubtful. 
 
Under certain circumstances, the Bank may provide borrowers relief through loan restructurings.  A restructuring of 
debt constitutes a troubled debt restructuring (TDR) if the Bank, for economic or legal reasons related to the borrower’s 
financial difficulties, grants a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider.  Concessions may 
include reduction of interest rates, extension of maturity dates, forgiveness of principal or interest due, or acceptance 
of other assets in full or partial satisfaction of the debt.  TDR loans typically present an elevated level of credit risk, 
as the borrowers are not able to perform according to the original contractual terms.  Loans that are reported as TDRs 
are considered impaired and measured for impairment, as previously described.  TDR loans that have performed as 
agreed under the restructured terms for a period of 12 months or longer may cease to be reported as a TDR loan.  
However, the loan continues to be individually evaluated for impairment. 
 
Premises and Equipment:  Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation 
is computed principally, using straight line or accelerated methods over their estimated useful lives.  The estimated 
useful lives are 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements, and 3 to 10 years for furniture and equipment.  These 
assets are reviewed for impairment when events indicate their carrying amount may not be recoverable from future 
undiscounted cash flows.  Maintenance, repairs, and minor alterations are charged to current operations as 
expenditures occur.  Major improvements are capitalized.  Land is carried at cost. 
 
Mortgage Servicing Rights:  Mortgage servicing rights, included in other assets, represent the allocated fair value of 
mortgage servicing rights retained on loans sold.  Mortgage servicing rights are amortized to expense in proportion 
to, and over the period of, estimated net servicing revenues. 
 
Impairment is evaluated based on the fair value of the rights, using groupings of the underlying loans as to interest 
rates and then, secondarily, as to geographic and prepayment characteristics.  Any impairment of a grouping is reported 
as a valuation allowance. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Transfers of Financial Assets:  Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets 
has been surrendered.  Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been 
isolated from the Bank; (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage 
of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets; and, (3) the Bank does not maintain effective control over 
the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity. 
 
The transfer of a participating interest in a financial asset must have all of the following characteristics:  (1) from the 
date of transfer, it must represent a proportionate ownership interest in the financial asset; (2) from the date of transfer, 
all cash flows received, except cash flows allocated as compensation for servicing or other services performed, must 
be divided proportionately among participating interest holders in the amount equal to their share of ownership; (3) 
the rights of each participating interest holder must have the same priority; and, (4) no party has the right to pledge or 
change the entire financial asset unless all participating interest holders agree to do so. 
 
Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance:  The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on certain key executives.  
Bank-owned life insurance is recorded at its net cash surrender value, or the amount that can be realized. 
 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:  Goodwill resulting from acquisitions is not amortized, but is tested for 
impairment annually.  As part of its testing, the Company first assesses the qualitative factors to determine whether it 
is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.  If the Company determines 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount using these qualitative factors, the Company compares 
the fair value of the goodwill with its carrying amount, and then measures impairment loss by comparing the implied 
fair value of goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. 
 
Significant judgment is applied when goodwill is assessed for impairment.  If qualitative factors indicate the potential 
for impairment, then further analysis includes developing cash flow projections, selecting appropriate discount rates, 
identifying relevant market comparisons, incorporating general economic and market conditions, and selecting an 
appropriate control premium.  At December 31, 2020, the Company believes the Bank does not have any indicators 
of potential impairment. 
 
Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives to their estimated residual 
values.  Goodwill is the only intangible asset with an indefinite life on the Company’s balance sheet.  Other intangible 
assets consist of acquired customer relationships which are amortized on an accelerated method over their estimated 
useful lives of 10 years. 
 
Other Real Estate Owned:  Other real estate owned is comprised of properties acquired through a foreclosure 
proceeding or acceptance of a deed in lieu of foreclosure.  These properties are initially recorded at fair value, less 
estimated cost to sell at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis.  After foreclosure, valuations are 
periodically performed by management, and other real estate owned is carried at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value, less the estimated cost to sell.  Expenses, gains and losses on disposition, and reductions in carrying value 
are reported as non-interest expense.  Other real estate owned was $83,000 at December 31, 2019, (none at December 
31, 2020) and is included in other assets.   
 
At December 31, 2019, the recorded investment of consumer mortgage loans secured by residential properties for 
which formal foreclosure proceedings are in process was $23,000.  There was none at December 31, 2020. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation:  The Company follows the requirements of “share-based payment transactions”, using 
the modified prospective transition method.  Under this method, the Company recognizes compensation cost for stock- 
based compensation for all new or modified grants. 
 
See Note M regarding the various assumptions used in computing the compensation expense. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Advertising Costs:  Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Income Taxes:  The income tax provision is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for the 
temporary differences between carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax 
rates.  A valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.  Benefits 
from tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return are not recognized if the likelihood that the tax 
positions would be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority is considered to be 50% or less.  Any interest 
and penalties resulting from the filing of the income tax returns are included in the provision for income taxes. 
 
Cash Flow Definition:  For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers cash and 
due from banks as cash and cash equivalents.  The Company reports net cash flows for customer loan and deposit 
transactions and short-term borrowings with a maturity of 90 days or less. 
 
Earnings and Dividends Per Common Share:  Basic earnings per common share is based on net income divided by 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Employee Stock Ownership Plan 
shares are considered outstanding for this calculation, unless unearned.  Diluted earnings per common share reflects 
the dilutive effect of any additional, potential common shares issuable under stock options.  Earnings and dividends 
per share are restated for all stock splits and stock dividends through the date of issuance of the financial statements. 
 
Comprehensive Income:  Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income or loss.  
Other comprehensive income or loss includes the net change in unrealized gains and losses on securities available-
for-sale. 
 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP):  Compensation expense is based on the market price of shares as they 
are committed to be released to participants’ accounts.  Dividends on allocated ESOP shares reduce retained earnings; 
dividends on unearned ESOP shares reduce debt and accrued interest. 
 
Fair Values of Financial Instruments:  Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market 
information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note S.  Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and 
matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the 
absence of broad markets for particular items.  Changes in assumptions or market conditions could significantly affect 
such estimates. 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk:  The Company grants commercial, real estate, and installment loans to customers 
mainly in southwest Michigan.  Commercial loans include loans collateralized by commercial real estate, business 
assets, and agricultural loans collateralized by crops and farm equipment.  Commercial loans make up approximately 
86% of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2020, and 2019, and such loans are expected to be repaid with cash flow 
from operations of businesses.  Residential mortgage loans make up approximately 13% of the loan portfolio at 
December 31, 2020, and 2019, and are collateralized by mortgages on residential real estate.  Consumer loans make 
up approximately 1% of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2020, and 2019, and are primarily collateralized by 
consumer assets. 
 
Operating Segments:  While the chief decision makers monitor the revenue streams of the various products and 
services, operations are managed and financial performance is evaluated on a Company-wide basis.  Operating 
segments are aggregated into one, as operating results for all segments are similar.  Accordingly, all of the financial 
service operations are considered by management to be aggregated in one reportable operating segment: commercial 
banking. 
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NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Restrictions on Cash: In 2018, The Bank became a party to an offsetting interest rate swap with a notional amount 
totaling $10,856,000 as of December 31, 2020, and $11,136,000 as of December 31, 2019.  This swap between the 
Bank, commercial borrower, and financial intermediary (counterparty) provide for the Bank to receive interest on the 
underlying commercial loan at a variable rate of interest and for the commercial borrower to receive a fixed rate of 
interest during the term of the loan.  The Bank is required to post collateral with the counterparty to cover any financial 
exposure of the commercial borrower to the counterparty if the commercial borrower was to terminate the swap before 
the stated maturity of the underlying loan.  Conversely, the counterparty is required to post collateral with the Bank 
to cover any financial exposure of the counterparty if the borrower were to terminate the swap before the stated 
maturity of the loan.  The Bank has posted cash as collateral for the financial exposure of the commercial borrower in 
the amount of $1,810,000 and $1,120,000 as of December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively.  See Note Y for further 
information.  
 
Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk:  Financial instruments include off-balance-sheet credit 
instruments, such as commitments to make loans and standby letters of credit issued to meet customer needs.  The 
face amount for these items represents the exposure to loss, before considering customer collateral or ability to repay.  
Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.  Commitments may include interest rates determined 
prior to funding the loan (rate lock commitments).  Rate lock commitments on loans intended to be sold are considered 
to be derivatives.  Such commitments were not material at December 31, 2020, and 2019. 
 
Cash Balances:  The Company maintains deposits with other correspondent banks.  Certain of these deposits may 
exceed FDIC insured limits. 
 
Economic Uncertainties and Loss Contingencies:  The outbreak of COVID-19, which the World Health 
Organization declared a pandemic in March 2020, continues to spread throughout the United States and around the 
globe causing economic uncertainty.  Many state governors in the United States issued temporary executive orders 
that, among other stipulations, limited in-person work activities for most businesses and industries.  The extent of the 
ultimate impact of the pandemic on the Company’s operational and financial performance will depend on various 
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak and its impact on the Bank’s customers, employees, 
and vendors, all of which cannot be reasonably predicted at this time.  While management reasonably expects the 
COVID-19 outbreak to have some negative impact, the related financial consequences and duration is highly 
uncertain. 
  
Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as 
liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated.  
Management does not believe there are any such matters outstanding as of December 31, 2020, that will have a 
material future adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Subsequent Events:  Management evaluated subsequent events through March 2, 2021, the date the consolidated 
financial statements were available to be issued.  Events or transactions occurring after December 31, 2020, but prior 
to when the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, that provided additional evidence about 
conditions that existed at December 31, 2020, have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2020.  Events or transactions that provided evidence about conditions that did not exist at 
December 31, 2020, but arose before the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, have not been 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
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NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
New Accounting Standards:  In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit 
Losses (Topic 326).  This update, effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2023, will change the accounting 
for credit losses on loans and debt securities.  For loans, the proposal will require an expected credit loss model rather 
than the current incurred loss model to determine the allowance for credit losses.  The expected credit loss model 
would estimate losses for the estimated life of the financial asset.  In addition, the guidance will modify the other-
than-temporary impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities to require an allowance for credit impairment 
instead of a direct write-down, which will allow for reversal of credit impairments in future periods.  The Company 
has identified a software solution that will assist in estimating the allowance for loan loss under ASU 2016-13.  Loan 
level data has been identified and collection efforts have started.  The adoption of ASU 2016-13 may result in a 
material increase to the allowance for loan losses balance.  A one-time, cumulative effect adjustment to the allowance 
for loan losses will be recognized as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the new standard is effective.  
The Company is evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial condition and results of operations. 
 
NOTE B – BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE 
 
A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years 
ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 is presented below: 
 
 2020  2019  2018  
Basic Earnings Per Common Share          
          
Net income (in thousands) $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
          
Weighted average common shares outstanding  2,311,849   2,316,664   2,320,024  
          
Less:  Weighted average unallocated ESOP shares  (9,868 )  (13,389 )  (10,431 ) 
          
Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic          
  earnings per common share  2,301,981   2,303,275   2,309,593  
          
Basic Earnings Per Common Share $ 3.21  $ 3.74  $ 3.52  
          
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share          
          
Net income (in thousands) $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
          
Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic          
  earnings per common share  2,301,981   2,303,275   2,309,593  
          
Add:  Dilutive effects of assumed exercises of stock options  731   2,309   3,309  
          
Average shares and dilutive potential           
  of common shares outstanding  2,302,712   2,305,584   2,312,902  
          
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share $ 3.21  $ 3.74  $ 3.51  
 
In 2020 and 2019, 43,350 and 14,473, respectively, of stock options were not considered in computing diluted earnings 
per share because they were anti-dilutive.  In 2018 there were no stock options considered anti-dilutive. 
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Year-end investment securities were as follows (in thousands): 
 
 
 
Available-for-sale, December 31, 2020 

 
Amortized  

Cost 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

  
Fair 

Value 
State and political subdivisions $ 126,828  $ 5,777  $ (144 ) $ 132,461 
Federal agency mortgage backed  49,331   165   (130 )  49,366 
Asset-backed securities  26,699   86   (232 )  26,553 
Total $ 202,858  $ 6,028  $  (506 ) $ 208,380 
 
 
 
Available-for-sale, December 31, 2019 

 
Amortized  

Cost 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

 
Fair 

 Value 
State and political subdivisions $ 64,373  $ 1,072  $ (708 ) $ 64,737 
Federal agency mortgage backed  31,922   -   (176 )  31,746 
Asset-backed securities  27,207   105   (359 )  26,953 
Total $ 123,502  $ 1,177  $  (1,243 ) $ 123,436 
 
Securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2020, and 2019, that have not been recognized in income are as 
follows (in thousands): 
 

2020 

Continued Unrealized 
Loss for 

Less than 12 Months 

 Continued Unrealized 
Loss for 

12 Months or More 

  
 

Total 

 

 
Description of Securities 

Fair 
Value 

 Unrealized 
Loss 

 Fair 
Value 

 Unrealized 
Loss 

 Fair 
Value 

 Unrealized 
Loss 

 

                   

State and political subdivisions $ 15,520  $ (144 ) $ -  $ -  $ 15,520  $ (144 ) 
Federal agency mortgage backed  21,397   (129 )  4,706   (1 )  26,103   (130 ) 
Asset-backed securities  -   -   15,290   (232 )  15,290   (232 ) 
Total temporarily impaired $ 36,917  $ (273 ) $ 19,996  $ (233 ) $ 56,913  $ (506 ) 
 

2019 

Continued Unrealized 
Loss for 

Less than 12 Months 

 Continued Unrealized 
Loss for 

12 Months or More 

  
 

Total 

 

 
Description of Securities 

Fair 
Value 

 Unrealized 
Loss 

 Fair 
Value 

 Unrealized 
Loss 

 Fair 
Value 

 Unrealized 
Loss 

 

State and political subdivisions $ 21,937  $ (621 ) $ 4,305  $ (87 ) $ 26,242  $ (708 ) 
Federal agency mortgage backed  31,746   (176 )  -   -   31,746   (176 ) 
Asset-backed securities  15,794   (256 )  3,749   (103 )  19,543   (359 ) 
Total temporarily impaired $ 69,477  $ (1,053 ) $ 8,054  $ (190 ) $ 77,531  $ (1,243 ) 
 
Unrealized losses have not been recognized through the income statement, as management believes the issuers are of 
sound credit quality, management has no intent to sell the securities, the Company has the ability to hold the securities 
to maturity, and the decline in fair value is largely due to changes in market interest rates.  The fair value is expected 
to recover as the bonds approach their maturity date. 
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NOTE C – SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The proceeds from sales of securities and the associated gains/(losses) are listed below (in thousands): 
 
  2020  2019  2018  
          Proceeds  $ -  $ 79,990  $ 9,458  
          Net gains/(losses)   -   366   (161 ) 
 
The tax provision/(benefit) related to net realized gains/(losses) was $77,000, and ($34,000) for 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
 
The amortized cost and fair value of the investment securities portfolio are shown by contractual maturity.  Contractual 
maturities of debt securities at year-end 2020 were as follows (in thousands): 
 
 Amortized 

Cost 
 

 
Fair 

Value  
          Due in one year or less $ 6,178  $ 6,201  
          Due from one to five years  10,241   10,686  
          Due from five to ten years  37,779   39,602  
          Due after ten years  148,660   151,891  
          Total $ 202,858  $ 208,380  
 
Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay 
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. 
 
Securities with a carrying value of $37,840,000 and $34,049,000, respectively, were pledged as collateral for 
repurchase accounts and for other purposes at December 31, 2020, and 2019. 
 
At December 31, 2020, and 2019, the fair value of securities issued by the State of Michigan and all its political 
subdivisions totaled $42,334,000 and $28,868,000, respectively.  No other securities of any single issuer were greater 
than 10% of shareholders’ equity. 
 
Investments in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Indianapolis stock totaled $2,025,000 at December 31, 2020, and 
2019, and are included in other assets because such investments are considered restricted.  Such investments are 
recorded at cost and evaluated for impairment.  Cash dividends received are recorded in other interest income. 
 
The Company had no investment in securities of issuers outside of the United States as of December 31, 2020, or 
2019. 
 
 
NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES 
 
Loans at year-end were as follows (in thousands): 
 2020  
          Commercial real estate $ 337,839  
          Commercial  150,369  
          Agriculture  59,567  
          Real estate mortgage  85,011  
          Consumer  3,084  
  635,870  
          Less allowance for loan losses  (7,789 ) 
          Loans, net $ 628,081  
 
 2019  
          Commercial real estate $ 314,126  
          Commercial  109,114  
          Agriculture  59,534  
          Real estate mortgage  76,416  
          Consumer  3,674  
  562,864  
          Less allowance for loan losses  (5,184 ) 
          Loans, net $ 557,680  
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NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED) 
 
Credit Risk Elements – Commercial Real Estate, Commercial, and Agriculture: 
Loans to commercial real estate, commercial, and agricultural borrowers are underwritten based on the Bank’s 
examination of current and projected cash flows to determine the ability of the borrower to repay their obligations as 
agreed.  This underwriting includes the evaluation of cash flows of the borrower, the underlying collateral when 
applicable, and the borrower’s ability to manage its business activities.  The cash flows of borrowers and the collateral 
securing these loans may fluctuate in value after the initial evaluation. 
 
Commercial real estate loans are also subject to underwriting standards unique to real estate loans.  These loans are 
viewed primarily as cash flow loans and secondarily as loans secured by real estate.  Commercial real estate lending 
typically involves higher loan principal amounts and the repayment of these loans is generally dependent on the 
successful operation of the property securing the loan or the business conducted on the property securing the loan.  
Loan-to-value is generally 75% of the lower of the cost or appraised value of the assets.  Appraisals on properties 
securing these loans are generally performed by fee appraisers approved by the Commercial Loan Committee.  
Because payments on commercial real estate loans are often dependent on the successful operation or management of 
the properties, repayment of such loans may be subject to adverse conditions in the real estate market or the economy.  
Management monitors and evaluates commercial real estate loans based on collateral and risk rating criteria.  The 
Bank typically requires personal guarantees on these loans.  The Bank’s commercial real estate loans are secured 
largely by properties located in its primary market area. 
 
Commercial operating loans are underwritten with an emphasis on cash flow analysis and are generally secured by a 
first priority lien on the general assets of the business.  Loan-to-value limits vary and are dependent upon the nature 
and type of the underlying collateral, as well as the financial strength of the borrower.  Commercial loans are generally 
guaranteed by the principal(s).  The Bank’s commercial lending is principally done in its primary market area. 
 
Agriculture loans are primarily made for real estate or operating purposes.  Agricultural real estate loans are evaluated 
based upon cash flow first, and then as loans secured by real estate.  Loan-to-value is generally 75% of the lower of 
the cost or appraised value of the assets.  Appraisals on properties securing these loans are generally performed by fee 
appraisers.  Agricultural operating loans are underwritten with reliance upon current and projected cash flows.  
Security for the operating loans is generally provided through first priority liens on agricultural assets.  Guaranty of 
the principal(s) is required for most agricultural borrowers.  The Bank’s agricultural lending is done primarily in its 
operating area.   
 
Construction loans are underwritten utilizing independent appraisals, sensitivity analysis of absorption, vacancy and 
lease rates, and financial analysis of the developers and property owners.  Construction loans are generally based upon 
estimates of costs and value associated with completion of the project.  Construction loans often involve the 
disbursement of funds with repayment substantially dependent on the success of the ultimate project.  These loans are 
closely monitored by on-site inspections and are considered to have higher risks than other real estate loans due to 
their ultimate repayment being sensitive to interest rate changes, general economic conditions, and the availability of 
long-term financing.  The Bank typically requires personal guarantees on these loans.  The Bank’s construction loans 
are secured predominantly by properties located in its primary market area. 
 
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act): 
The CARES Act was signed into law on March 27, 2020, providing economic relief to businesses and individuals.  
Pursuant to the CARES Act, the Bank originated $78,828,000 of Payroll Protection Program (PPP) loans during the 
year ended December 31, 2020.  Outstanding borrowings are guaranteed by the U.S. Small Business Administration 
(SBA) and are subject to partial or full forgiveness by the SBA, based on the Bank’s borrowers meeting certain 
requirements, as stipulated in the PPP loan agreement.  The PPP loans have terms of 24 or 60 months, bear interest at 
the rate of 1.0% and are payable in monthly installments with the initial installment deferred six months from the date 
of origination.  Payments were later deferred for 10 months by the SBA.  Through December 31, 2020, approximately 
$18,824,000 of loans had been forgiven by the SBA.  The balance of outstanding PPP loans amounted to $60,004,000 
at December 31, 2020. 
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NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Bank received a specified fee during 2020 based on the amount of each PPP loan originated, as follows: $350,000 
or less, 5%; over $350,000 to a $1,000,000, 3%; or over $1,000,000, 1%.  Such fees, net of estimated origination costs 
have been deferred and are being amortized to interest income over the term of the loans.  Amortization of deferred 
PPP loan fees amounted to $1,290,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020, and deferred fees on PPP loans 
amounted to $1,541,000 at December 31, 2020.  
 
Also pursuant to the Interagency Guidance, the Bank entered into loan modification agreements with certain 
customers.  The modification agreements provided for a 1 to 6 month payment deferral and extension of the final 
maturity date.  Certain loans were extended for a second 3 month period.  During the year ended December 31, 2020, 
the Bank entered into 258 modifications with outstanding borrowings for the modified loans aggregating 
$102,701,000.  As of December 31, 2020, the modification periods for all of the loans above have ended and the loans 
are paying as agreed. 
 
Credit Risk Elements – Real Estate Mortgage and Consumer: 
The Bank originates 1-4 family real estate and consumer loans utilizing credit reports to supplement the underwriting 
process.  The Bank’s manual underwriting standards for 1-4 family loans are generally in accordance with Federal 
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and loan policy manual underwriting guidelines.  Properties securing 1-4 family 
real estate loans are appraised by fee appraisers, which are independent of the loan origination function and have been 
approved by management.  The loan-to-value ratios normally do not exceed 80% without credit enhancements, such 
as mortgage insurance.  The Bank will lend up to 100% of the lesser of the appraised value or purchase price for 
conventional 1-4 family real estate loans, provided private mortgage insurance is obtained.  The underwriting 
standards for consumer loans include a determination of the applicant’s payment history on other debts and an 
assessment of their ability to meet existing obligations and payments on the proposed loan.  To monitor and manage 
loan risk, policies and procedures are developed and modified, as needed, by management.  This activity, coupled 
with smaller loan amounts that are spread across many individual borrowers, minimizes risk.  Additionally, market 
conditions are reviewed by management on a regular basis.  The Bank’s 1-4 family real estate loans are secured 
predominantly by properties located in its primary market area. 
 
The Bank’s internal credit analysis staff reviews and validates credit risk on a periodic basis.  In addition, an 
independent loan review is performed annually.  Credit analysts’ results are presented to management.  The 
independent loan review is presented to management and the Audit Committee.  The credit analysts’ results and loan 
review processes complement and reinforce the risk identification and assessment decisions made by lenders and 
credit personnel, as well as the Bank’s policies and procedures. 
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At December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, certain directors and executive officers of the Company, including their 
associates and companies in which they are principal owners, were indebted to the Bank.  The table below summarizes 
the aggregate loan activity (in thousands) exceeding $60,000 for these individuals and their associates.  All of these 
loans were made in the ordinary course of business, were made on substantially the same terms (including interest 
rates and collateral) as those prevailing at the time for comparable loans with persons not related to the Company, and 
did not involve more than the normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features.  None of these loans 
were in default at December 31, 2020.  Other changes include adjustments for loans applicable to one reporting period 
that are excludable from the other reporting period, including changes in the directorate. 
 
 2020  2019  2018  
          
          Balance at January 1 $ 22,637  $ 16,922  $ 24,472  
          New loans, including renewals  7,912   19,510   19,880  
          Repayments  (7,963 )  (13,532 )  (20,683 ) 
          Other changes  (57 )  (263 )  (6,747 ) 
          Balance at December 31 $ 22,529  $ 22,637  $ 16,922  
 
The unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans serviced for others, which are not included on the consolidated balance 
sheet, was $193,825,000 and $194,747,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 
 
Activity for capitalized mortgage servicing rights, included in other assets, was as follows (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  2018  
          
          Balance at January 1 $ 1,199  $ 1,274  $ 1,368  
          Additions  531   236   243  
          Amortized to expense  (353 )  (311 )  (337 ) 
          Balance at December 31 $ 1,377  $ 1,199  $ 1,274  
 
No valuation allowance for capitalized mortgage servicing rights was considered necessary at December 31, 2020, or 
2019, because the estimated fair value of such rights exceeded the carrying value. 
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The following is an analysis of the allowance for loan loss activity, listed by portfolio segment.  Information is based 
on impairment method as of, and for the years ended, December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 2020 
Commercial 
Real Estate 

 

Commercial 

 

Agriculture 

 Real 
Estate 

Mortgage  

 

Consumer 

 

Total 

  

Balance at January 1 $ 3,414   $ 709                                        $ 560                                       $ 439                                      $ 62             $ 5,184                                         
Provision (credit) for loan 

losses 1,804  234  172  326  64  2,600 
  

Loans charged off -  -  -  (26 ) (107 ) (133 )  
Recoveries 2  -  7  39  90  138   
Balance at December 31 $ 5,220            $ 943                 $ 739  $ 778             $ 109      $ 7,789   
              
Ending balance individually 

evaluated for impairment $ 518                                                         
                               

$ -   $ -                                                  $ 6                 $ -                                 $ 524                                                 
  

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 4,702  943  739  772  109  7,265 

  

              
Total $  5,220  $ 943                                             $ 739                                         $ 778                                                   $ 109                 $ 7,789    
              
December 31, 2019              
Balance at January 1 $ 3,236                    $ 742                                        $ 618                                       $ 424                                      $ 97              $ 5,117                                         
Provision (credit) for loan 

losses 173  (37 ) 23  45  21          225 
  

Loans charged off -  -  (81 ) (45 ) (148 ) (274 )  
Recoveries 5  4  -  15  92  116            
Balance at December 31 $           3,414  $ 709    $          560  $           439  $     62  $ 5,184   
              
Ending balance individually     

evaluated for impairment $ 483                                                         
                               

$ -    $ -                                                  $ 25                 $ -                                 $ 508                                                 
  

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 2,931  709  560  414  62  4,676 

  

              
Total $ 3,414                                $ 709                                              $ 560                                       $ 439                                                   $ 62                 $ 5,184                                        
              
December 31, 2018              
Balance at January 1 $ 2,794                    $ 1,041                                        $ 601                                       $ 531                                      $ 42              $ 5,009                                         
Provision (credit) for loan 
losses 440  (296 ) 17  (41 ) 130          250 

  

Loans charged off -  (4 ) -  (82 ) (174 ) (260 )  
Recoveries 2  1  -  16  99         118     
Balance at December 31 $ 3,236            $ 742                  $ 618                                   $ 424                                    $ 97      $ 5,117                                    
              
Ending balance individually     

evaluated for impairment $ 415                                                         
                               

$ -   $ 81                                                  $ 30                 $ -                                 $ 526                                                 
  

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 2,821  742  537  394  97  4,591 

  

              
Total $ 3,236                                 $ 742                                             $ 618                                         $ 424                                                   $ 97                 $ 5,117                                        
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In 2020, 2019, and 2018, consumer loans also included demand deposit loan account charge-offs and recoveries.  
These amounted to $93,000 and $86,000, respectively for the year ended December 31, 2020; $137,000 and $86,000, 
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2019; and, $149,000 and $92,000, respectively, for the year ended 
December 31, 2018. 
 
The following is a summary of the recorded investment in loans, by portfolio segment, and based on impairment 
method, as of December 31, 2020, and 2019 (in thousands): 
 
 
 
 
December 31, 2020: 

 Commercial 
Real Estate 

 

Commercial 

 

Agriculture 

 

Real 
Estate 

Mortgage  

 

Consumer 

 

Total 
Ending balance individually 

evaluated for impairment $ 4,134   $ 75                                             $ 159   $ 1,082   $ -  $ 5,450  
Ending balance collectively 

evaluated for impairment  333,705   150,294   59,408   83,929   3,084  630,420 
            
Ending balance $ 337,839   $ 150,369   $        59,567   $ 85,011   $ 3,084   $ 635,870  
 
 
 
 
 
December 31, 2019: 

 Commercial 
Real Estate 

 

Commercial 

 

Agriculture 

 

Real 
Estate 

Mortgage  

 

Consumer 

 

Total 
Ending balance individually 

evaluated for impairment $  3,290  $ -                                             $  276  $ 1,914   $ -  $ 5,480  
Ending balance collectively 

evaluated for impairment  310,836   109,114   59,258   74,502   3,674  557,384 
            
Ending balance $ 314,126   $ 109,114   $        59,534    $ 76,416   $ 3,674   $ 562,864  
 
The following tables present loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans, as of December 31, 
2020, and 2019 (in thousands): 
 

 
December 31, 2020 

Unpaid 
Principal 
Balance 

 
 

Recorded 
Investment 

 Allowance 
for Loan 
Losses 

Allocated 
         
With no related allowance recorded:         
          Commercial Real Estate $     -  $ -  $ - 
          Commercial  75   75   - 
          Agriculture  159   159   - 
          Real Estate Mortgage   872   872   - 
          Consumer  -   -   - 
         
With an allowance recorded:         
          Commercial Real Estate  4,134   4,134   518 
          Commercial  -   -   - 
          Agriculture  -   -   - 
          Real Estate Mortgage   210   210   6 
          Consumer  -   -   - 
         
          Total $ 5,450  $ 5,450  $ 524 
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December 31, 2019 

Unpaid 
Principal 
Balance 

 
 

Recorded 
Investment 

 Allowance 
for Loan 
Losses 

Allocated 
         
With no related allowance recorded:         
          Commercial Real Estate $     36  $ 36  $ - 
          Commercial  -   -   - 
          Agriculture  276   276   - 
          Real Estate Mortgage   921   858   - 
          Consumer  -   -   - 
         
With an allowance recorded:         
          Commercial Real Estate  3,254   3,254   483 
          Commercial  -   -   - 
          Agriculture  -   -   - 
          Real Estate Mortgage   1,076   1,056   25 
          Consumer  -   -   - 
         
          Total $ 5,563  $ 5,480  $ 508 
 
 
Information regarding impaired loans at December 31 follows (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  2018  
          
          Average balance of impaired loans during the year $ 5,465  $ 5,790  $ 4,501  
          
          Cash basis interest income recognized during the year $ 252  $ 389  $ 464  
          
          Interest income recognized during the year $ 344  $ 378  $ 415  
 
The Company’s loan portfolio also includes certain loans that have been modified in a TDR, where economic 
concessions have been granted to borrowers who have experienced or are expected to experience financial difficulties.  
These concessions typically result from the Company’s loss mitigation activities and could include reductions in the 
interest rate, payment extensions, forgiveness of principal, forbearance, or other actions. 
 
When the Company modifies a loan, management evaluates any possible concession based on the present value of 
expected future cash flows, discounted at the contractual interest rate of the original loan agreement, except when the 
sole source of repayment for the loan is the liquidation of collateral.  In these cases, management uses the current fair 
value of the collateral, less selling costs.  If management determines that the value of the modified loan is less than 
the recorded investment in the loan (net of previous charge-offs and deferred loan fees or costs), impairment is 
recognized through an allowance estimate or a charge-off to the allowance. 
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NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED) 
 
The following table summarizes the number and volume of TDRs the Company has recorded in its loan portfolio, as 
of December 31, 2020, and 2019.  It also shows the number of TDR loans added each year and the amount of specific 
reserves in the allowance for loan losses relating to TDRs (dollars in thousands): 
 
  Total   Added During the Year  
 
 
December 31, 2020 

Number of 
Loans 

 

Amount 

 Specific 
Reserves 
Allocated  

 
Number of 

Loans 

  
 

Amount 

 Specific 
Reserves 
Allocated 

               
Commercial Real Estate  2  $ 2,922  $ 55  -  $ -  $ - 
Commercial  -      -  -  -  - 
Agriculture  1   159   -  -  -  - 
Real Estate Mortgage  4   327   5  -  -  - 
Consumer  -   -   -  -  -  - 
               
Total  7  $ 3,408  $ 60  -  $ -            $ -                             
 
December 31, 2019               
               
Commercial Real Estate  2  $ 2,948  $ 164  1  $ 2,935  $ 164 
Commercial  -   -   -  -  -  - 
Agriculture  1   197   -  -  -  - 
Real Estate Mortgage  13   1,140   16  -  -  - 
Consumer  -   -   -  -  -  - 
               
Total  16  $ 4,285  $ 180  1  $ 2,935  $ 164                             
 
The modification of loan terms that resulted in a TDR included one of, or a combination of, the following: a reduction 
of the stated interest rate of the loan; an extension of the maturity date; or an extension of the amortization period.  
The post-modified loan balance for TDRs was essentially the same as the pre-modified balance. 
 
The loan modified during 2019 remained in nonaccrual status as of December 31, 2020.  The Company has not 
committed to lend any additional funds to this borrower. 
  
The following table presents the aging of the recorded investment in past due and nonaccrual loans, as of December 31, 
2020, and 2019.  It is shown by class of loans (in thousands): 
 
 
December 31, 2020 Loans Past Due Accruing Interest 

   

 

 

 
 
 
 30-59 

Days 

 

60-89 
Days 

 
Over 

90 
Days  

 
Total 

  
Loans 

on Non- 
Accrual 

 Loans Not 
Past Due  

or Non- 
Accrual 

 

Total 
                    
Commercial Real Estate $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 4,059  $ 333,780  $ 337,839 
Commercial  20   -   -   20   75   150,274   150,369 
Agriculture  -   -   -   -   -   59,567   59,567 
Real Estate Mortgage  65   -   -   65   355   84,591   85,011 
Consumer  14   -   -   14   -   3,070   3,084 
                     
Total $ 99  $ -  $ -  $ 99  $ 4,489  $ 631,282  $ 635,870 
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NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED) 
 
December 31, 2019 Loans Past Due Accruing Interest       
 
 
 30-59 

Days 

 

60-89 
Days 

 
Over 

90 
Days  

 
Total 

  
Loans 

on Non- 
Accrual 

 Loans Not 
Past Due  

or Non- 
Accrual 

 

Total 
                    
Commercial Real Estate $ 242  $ -  $ -  $ 242  $     3,276  $ 310,608  $ 314,126 
Commercial  -   -   -   -  -   109,114   109,114 
Agriculture  -   -   79   79  -   59,455   59,534 
Real Estate Mortgage  79   -   -   79  762   75,575   76,416 
Consumer  7   -   -   7  -   3,667   3,674 
                    
Total $ 328  $ -  $ 79  $ 407  $     4,038  $ 558,419  $ 562,864 
 
Credit Quality Indicators: 
The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to 
service their debt, such as current financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public 
information, and current economic trends, among other factors.  The Company analyzes loans individually by 
classifying them based upon each loan’s credit risk.  This analysis includes all loans from the commercial loan 
department and is performed at least annually.  The Company uses the following definitions for risk ratings: 
 

Pass:  Loans classified as pass have no existing or known potential weaknesses deserving of management’s 
close attention. 
 
Special Mention:  Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management’s 
close attention.  If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment 
prospects for the loan or of the Company’s credit position at some future date. 
 
Substandard:  Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and 
paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any.  Loans so classified have a well-defined 
weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt.  They are characterized by the distinct 
possibility that the Company will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. 
 
Doubtful:  Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, 
with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make the full collection or liquidation highly questionable 
and improbable, based on the currently existing facts, conditions, and values. 

 
As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk category of loans by class 
of loans was as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 2020 Pass 
 Special 

Mention 
 

Substandard  
 

Doubtful 
  Not Risk  

Rated 
   

Total 
                  
Commercial Real Estate $ 321,508  $ 12,197  $ 4,134  $ -  $ -  $ 337,839 
Commercial  138,517   11,777   75   -   -   150,369 
Agriculture  50,153   9,227   187   -   -   59,567 
Real Estate Mortgage  29,393   457   77   -   55,084   85,011 
Consumer  -   -   -   -   3,084   3,084 
                  
Total $ 539,571  $ 33,658  $ 4,473  $ -  $ 58,168  $ 635,870 
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December 31, 2019 Pass 
 Special 

Mention 
 

Substandard  
 

Doubtful 
  Not Risk  

Rated 
   

Total 
                  
Commercial Real Estate $ 293,982  $ 15,725  $ 4,419  $ -  $ -  $ 314,126 
Commercial  95,927   13,187   -   -   -   109,114 
Agriculture  55,200   4,106   228   -   -   59,534 
Real Estate Mortgage  18,353   556   346   -   57,161   76,416 
Consumer  -   -   -   -   3,674   3,674 
                  
      Total $ 463,462  $ 33,574  $ 4,993  $ -  $ 60,835  $ 562,864 
 

NOTE E – PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET 
Premises and equipment, net at December 31 consisted of (in thousands): 
 2020  2019  
       
 Land $ 2,166  $ 2,166  
 Buildings and improvements  19,754   19,558  
 Furniture and equipment  8,130   7,870  
  30,050   29,594  
 Less accumulated depreciation  (16,352 )  (15,079 ) 
       
 Totals $ 13,698  $ 14,515  
 
 

NOTE F – OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
Acquired intangible assets as of December 31 were as follows (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  
 Gross Carrying 

Amount 
 Accumulated 

Amortization 
 Gross Carrying 

Amount 
 Accumulated 

Amortization 
 

             
 Other acquired relationship intangibles  $ 360  $ 105  $ 360  $ 69  
 
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, was $36,000, $36,000, and $33,000, 
respectively. 
 
Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years is $36,000 per year.  
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NOTE G – DEPOSITS 
 
The carrying amount of domestic deposits at year-end follows (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  
       
          Non-interest bearing checking $ 220,786  $ 136,430  
          Interest bearing checking  275,879   209,995  
          Savings  92,668   74,086  
          Money market accounts  127,419   90,805  
          Time deposits  121,546   144,446  
          Totals $ 838,298  $ 655,762  
 
The carrying amount of time deposits over $250,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, was $52,832,000 and 
$57,176,000, respectively.  Interest expense on these deposits was $1,151,000, $1,227,000, and $812,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. 
 
At December 31, 2020, scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows for the years ending December 31 (in 
thousands): 
 
          2020 $ 80,566 
          2021  25,911 
          2022  7,600 
          2023  4,885 
          2024  2,584 
          Total $ 121,546 
 
Related party deposits were $15,278,000 and $17,558,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 
 
 
NOTE H – OTHER BORROWINGS 
 
Other borrowings at December 31, 2020, and 2019, included $20,000,000 and $30,000,000, respectively, in advances 
from the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) of Indianapolis.  Principal is due at maturity for the advances outstanding 
at December 31, 2020.  Each advance has a fixed interest rate ranging from 1.73% - 1.96%, with a weighted average 
rate of 1.85%.   
 
All of the advances from the FHLB are secured by a blanket collateral agreement, which gives the FHLB an 
unperfected security interest in certain 1-4 family mortgage, home equity, and commercial real estate loans.  Eligible 
FHLB loan collateral at December 31, 2020, and 2019, was approximately $160,086,000 and $164,346,000, 
respectively. 
 
On December 1, 2020, the Company modified the 2017 loan agreement with United Bankers’ Bank (UBB).  The 
$6,500,000 outstanding as of the modification date matures May 2027 with a fixed rate of 4.0%.  Repayment terms 
require quarterly principal payments of $250,000 each, plus interest.  The loan requires compliance with various 
specified financial covenants and is secured by all outstanding shares of the Bank’s stock.  At December 31, 2020, 
and 2019, $6,500,000 and $7,500,000, respectively, was outstanding under the loan.  In addition, the Company has a 
$10 million variable rate line of credit available with UBB.  At December 31, 2020, and 2019, there was no balance 
outstanding on the line. 
 
At December 31, 2020, scheduled principal reductions on other borrowings were as follows for the years ending 
December 31 (in thousands): 
 
 FHLB  UBB   Total 
          
 2021 $ -  $ 1,000   $ 1,000 
 2022  -   1,000    1,000 
 2023  -   1,000    1,000 
 2024  -   1,000    1,000 
 2025  -   1,000    1,000 
 2026 and thereafter  20,000   1,500    21,500 
 Total other borrowings $ 20,000  $ 6,500   $ 26,500 
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NOTE I – SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE AND OVERNIGHT BORROWINGS 
 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements) are direct obligations and are secured by 
securities held in safekeeping at a correspondent bank.  Repurchase agreements are offered primarily to certain large 
deposit customers as deposit equivalent investments.  Information relating to securities sold under agreements to 
repurchase is as follows (in thousands): 
 

 2020  2019 
At December 31:        
  Outstanding balance $ 20,083   $ 15,401  
  Average interest rate  0.17 %       0.26 % 
        
Daily average for the year:        
  Outstanding balance $ 15,695   $ 13,563  
  Average interest rate  0.20 %   0.27 % 
        
Maximum outstanding at any month end $ 22,914   $ 15,543  

 
At December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Bank has $38,000,000 and $23,000,000, respectively, in line of credit 
arrangements available to purchase federal funds, with no outstanding borrowings. 
 
 
NOTE J – SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES AND TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES 
 
In March 2004, Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I, a trust formed by the Company, closed a pooled, private 
offering of 5,000 trust-preferred securities with a liquidation amount of $1,000 per security.  The Company issued 
$5,155,000 of subordinated debentures to the trust in exchange for ownership of all of the common securities of the 
trust and the proceeds of the preferred securities sold by the trust.  The Company is not considered the primary 
beneficiary of this trust, therefore the trust is not consolidated in the Company’s financial statements, but rather the 
subordinated debentures are shown as a liability.  The Company may redeem the subordinated debentures, subject to 
the receipt by the Company of the proper approval of the Federal Reserve, if such approval is required under applicable 
capital guidelines or policies of the Federal Reserve.  The subordinated debentures may be redeemed on January 7, 
April 7, July 7, and October 7 of each year, either in whole or in integrals of $1,000 at 100% of the principal amount, 
plus accrued and unpaid interest.  The subordinated debentures mature on April 6, 2034.  The subordinated debentures 
are also redeemable in whole, but not in part, from time to time upon the occurrence of specific events defined within 
the trust indenture.  The Company has the option to defer interest payments on the subordinated debentures from time 
to time for a period not to exceed 20 consecutive quarters. 
 
The $5,000,000 in trust preferred securities may be included in Tier I capital (with certain limitations applicable) 
under current regulatory guidelines and interpretations.  The trust preferred securities and subordinated debentures 
have a variable rate of interest equal to the three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), plus 2.75%.  The 
rate at December 31, 2020, was 2.99%.  Interest expense related to the subordinated debentures amounted to $184,000 
in 2020, $262,000 in 2019, and $251,000 in 2018.  The Company’s investment in the common stock of the trust is 
$155,000 and is included in other assets. 
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NOTE K – INCOME TAXES  
 
Income tax provision consists of the following (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  2018  
          
Current $ 2,695  $ 1,782  $ 1,516  
Deferred  (1,292 )  (95 )  (81 ) 
Total income tax provision $ 1,403  $ 1,687  $ 1,435  
 
 
Income tax provision calculated at the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% for 2020, 2019, and 2018, differs from 
actual income tax provision as follows (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  2018  
          
Income tax at statutory rate $ 1,846  $ 2,165  $ 2,008  
Tax-exempt interest income, net  (144 )  (140 )  (194 ) 
Earnings on life insurance assets  (81 )  (93 )  (82 ) 
Low income housing partnership tax credits  (84 )  (61 )  (43 ) 
Captive insurance  (160 )  (164 )  (146 ) 
Stock-based compensation  (44 )  (55 )  (159 ) 
Other items, net  70   35   51  
Totals $ 1,403  $ 1,687  $ 1,435  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at December 31 (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  
Deferred tax assets:       
Allowance for loan losses $ 1,636  $ 1,089  
Deferred compensation and supplemental retirement liability  1,120   1,013  
Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities   -   14  
Nonaccrual loan interest  114   156  
Stock-based compensation  241   212  
Lease liability  590   600  
Deferred loan fees  596   210  
Accrued expense  155   -  
Other  32   35  
Total deferred tax assets  4,484   3,329  
 
Deferred tax liabilities:       
Mortgage servicing rights  (289 )  (252 ) 
Goodwill  (130 )  (130 ) 
Purchase accounting adjustments  (23 )  (26 ) 
Depreciation  (407 )  (552 ) 
Prepaid expenses  (134 )  (144 ) 
Right of use asset  (575 )  (593 ) 
Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities  (1,160 )  -  
Other  (56 )  (40 ) 
Total deferred tax liabilities  (2,774 )  (1,737 ) 
Net deferred tax assets included in other assets $ 1,710  $ 1,592  
 
The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S. federal and certain state tax returns.  In general, tax returns are no longer 
subject to tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2017. 
 
SMB Risk Management, Inc. has elected, under IRC Section 831(b), to be taxed only on its investment income, which 
excludes the premium payments received under its insurance contracts from taxable income. 
 
The Company believes that it had no significant uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2020, and 2019. 
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NOTE L – BENEFIT PLANS 
 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan:  The Company has an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) for substantially 
all full-time employees.  The ESOP includes a 401(k) provision with the Company’s matching contribution provided 
in Company stock.  The Board of Directors determines the Company’s contribution level annually.  Expense charged 
to operations for contributions to the ESOP totaled $400,000, $364,000, and $341,000 in 2020, 2019, and 2018, 
respectively. 
 
Shares held by the ESOP at year-end are as follows: 
 2020  2019  
       
          Allocated shares  141,079   140,832  
          Unallocated shares  7,680   10,840  
       
          Total ESOP shares  148,759   151,672  
 
The fair value of allocated shares held by the ESOP is $4,797,000 and $5,295,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, 
respectively.  Upon distribution of shares to a participant, the participant has the right to require the Company to 
purchase shares at their fair value, in accordance with terms and conditions of the plan. 
 
Deferred Compensation Plan:  Directors and certain officers of the Bank may defer a portion of their director fees 
or compensation in a non-qualified deferred compensation plan.  An account is established for each participant in the 
plan and credited with the participant’s annual deferred compensation, plus interest, based on the stated rate 
determined annually.  Upon retirement, participants receive the balance in their account over 15 years.  Participants 
also continue to earn interest during retirement based on their remaining account balance.  Participants are immediately 
vested in their account balances.  The plan is intended to be funded by certain bank-owned life insurance 
contracts.  The interest rate paid on deferred compensation balances, as of December 31, 2020, was 3.36%.  Deferred 
compensation expense was $273,000, $298,000, and $305,000 in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.  The liability 
for deferred compensation benefits was $3,320,000 and $3,155,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively, 
and is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Supplemental Retirement Plans:  In December 2011, the Board of Directors approved the Defined Contribution 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (2011 SERP), which is intended to provide select executive officers with a 
retirement benefit that is competitive with industry practices for bank executives when combined with the executive’s 
other employer-funded retirement benefits.  The 2011 SERP is a defined contribution arrangement which gives the 
Bank the discretion to make a specific annual, nonqualified, deferred compensation contribution to the account of 
participating executives.  Whether an annual deferred compensation contribution will be made to the account balance 
of a participating executive, as well as the amount of the contribution, is at the discretion of the Bank's Board of 
Directors.  The contribution that will be made by the Bank to the account of each executive is determined based on a 
percentage of base salary.  Participants are generally entitled to receive payment of the benefit in their account in 120 
equal monthly installments, commencing at age 65.  Expense associated with the 2011 SERP amounted to $345,000 
in 2020, $151,000 in 2019, and $128,000 in 2018.  Liabilities associated with the 2011 SERP totaled $2,014,000 and 
$1,669,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and are included in accrued expenses and other liabilities 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 
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NOTE M – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
The Company has stock-based compensation plans as described below.  Total compensation cost charged against 
income for those plans, was $867,000, $832,000, and $811,000 in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. 
 
The Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan of 2014 was created to advance the interest of the Company 
and its shareholders by affording to directors, officers, and other employees of the Company an opportunity for 
increased stock ownership.  The plan permits the grant and award of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted 
stock, and stock awards.  A maximum of 400,000 shares of common stock are available under the plan.  At December 
31, 2020, 189,158 shares were available for issuance under the plan. 
 
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant, using a Black-Scholes option valuation model 
that uses the weighted average assumptions noted in the following table.  The expected volatility and life assumptions 
are based on historical experience.  The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve and the dividend yield 
assumption is based on the Company’s history and expected dividend payouts.  Forfeitures are recognized as they 
occur. 
 
 2020  2019  2018 
            
Risk-free interest rate  1.53 %   2.72 %   1.76 % 
Expected option life  8 years    8 years    8 years  
Expected stock price volatility  16.43 %   22.69 %   22.55 % 
Dividend yield  2.52 %   2.65 %   2.69 % 
            
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during year $ 4.70   $ 7.79   $ 6.68  
 
A summary of the activity in the stock-based compensation plans for 2020 follows: 
 
Stock Options 
     
  

Shares 
Subject 

to 
Options 

  
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

 Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term 

  
 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 

 

           
Outstanding at beginning of year 40,500  $ 34.64       
Granted 14,750   37.60       
Exercised (250 )  10.10       
Forfeited (200 )  23.40       
Outstanding at end of year 54,800  $ 35.59  6.3 years  $ 68,000  
           
Exercisable at year-end 25,600  $ 33.07  7.5 years  $ 68,000  
 
 
 2020  2019  2018 
         
Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 7,000  $ 2,000  $ 487,000 
Cash received from options exercised  3,000   3,000   471,000 
Tax benefit realized from options exercised  44,000   55,000   159,000 
 
As of December 31, 2020, there was $35,000 of total, unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock 
options granted under the plans.  The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of one year. 
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Restricted Stock – Restricted shares may be issued under the 2014 plan described above.  Compensation expense is 
recognized over the vesting period of the shares, based on the market value of the shares on the issue date.  The total 
fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $932,000, $950,000, and 
$1,056,000, respectively.  As of December 31, 2020, there was $1,282,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to unvested shares granted under the plan.  The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average 
period of 2.1 years. 
 
A summary of activity for restricted stock for 2020 follows: 
   
  

 
 
 
 

Shares 

  
Weighted 
Average 
Grant 

Date Fair 
Value 

 

      
Non-vested at January 1, 2020 70,880  $ 31.54  
Granted 14,200   37.60  
Vested (24,590 )  29.81  
Forfeited -     
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 60,490  $ 33.66  
 
NOTE N – COMMITMENTS 
 
Various commitments arise in the normal course of business, such as commitments under commercial letters of credit, 
standby letters of credit, and commitments to extend credit.  These arrangements have credit risk essentially the same 
as that involved in extending loans to customers and are subject to the Bank’s normal credit policies.  Collateral 
generally consists of receivables, inventory, and equipment and is obtained based on management’s credit assessment 
of the customer. 
 
At December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company had no commitments under commercial letters of credit used to 
facilitate customers’ trade transactions. 
 
Under standby letter of credit agreements, the Company agrees to honor certain commitments in the event that its 
customers are unable to do so.  At December 31, 2020, and 2019, commitments under outstanding standby letters of 
credit were $13,161,000 and $12,372,000, respectively. 
 
Loan commitments outstanding to extend credit are detailed below (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  
Fixed rate $ 43,747  $ 44,810  
Variable rate  151,313   101,841  
Totals $ 195,060  $ 146,651  
 
The fixed rate commitments have stated interest rates ranging from 2.15% to 15.0%.  The terms of the above 
commitments range from 1 to 360 months. 
 
Management does not anticipate any losses due to these transactions; however, the above amount represents the 
maximum exposure to credit loss for loan commitments, as well as commercial and standby letters of credit. 
 
Certain executives of the Bank have employment contracts containing change of control clauses.  The employment 
contracts provide for the payment of 2.99 times the officers’ base salaries and bonuses, should the officers be 
terminated in the event of a change of control. 
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NOTE O – RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERS FROM SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Capital guidelines adopted by federal and state regulatory agencies and restrictions imposed by law, limit the amount 
of cash dividends the Bank can pay to the Company.  At December 31, 2020, using the most restrictive of these 
conditions, the aggregate cash dividends the Bank could pay the Company without prior regulatory approval was 
approximately $21.1 million. 
 
NOTE P – ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 
The following table presents the activity and accumulated balances for the components of other comprehensive income 
(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019 (in thousands): 
 
 Unrealized 

Gains (Losses) 
Available-for-
Sale Securities 

 

 
    

Balance at January 1, 2019 $ (1,301 )  
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications  1,947   
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other     
     comprehensive loss  (366 )  
Current year other comprehensive income, before tax  1,581   
Income tax effect  (332 )  
Current year other comprehensive income, net of tax   1,249   
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ (52 )  
     
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications  5,588   
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other     
     comprehensive income  - 

  

Current year other comprehensive income, before tax  5,588   
Income tax effect  (1,174 )  
Current year other comprehensive income, net of tax  4,414   
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 4,362   
     
 
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) amounted to $4,362,000 at December 31, 2020, and ($52,000) at 
December 31, 2019, consisting of the following (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of       
     income taxes of $1,160 in 2020, and ($14) in 2019 $ 4,362  $ (52 ) 
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NOTE Q – SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Condensed financial statements of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. follow (in thousands): 
 
Balance Sheets December 31,  
 2020  2019  
Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,329  $ 2,008  
Investment in subsidiary bank  100,341   91,155  
Investment in non-banking subsidiaries  1,936   1,878  
Premises and equipment, net  635   667  
Other assets  1,014   945  
Total Assets $ 105,255  $ 96,653  
       
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity       
Dividends payable $ 531  $ 533  
Other liabilities  92   120  
Other borrowings  6,500   7,500  
Subordinated debentures  5,155   5,155  
Shareholders’ equity  92,977   83,345  
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 105,255  $ 96,653  
 
 
Statements of Income Year ended December 31,  
 2020  2019  2018  
          
Dividends from subsidiary bank $ 2,993  $ 4,358  $ 3,258  
Dividends from non-banking subsidiaries  730   640   640  
Interest income  9   10   5  
Interest expense  (505 )  (626 )  (664 ) 
Rental income from subsidiary bank  137   137   137  
Other expenses  (1,119 )  (996 )  (957 ) 
  2,245   3,523   2,419  
Federal income tax credit  (311 )  (310 )  (311 ) 
  2,556   3,833   2,730  
Equity in net income, less dividends received from:          
  Subsidiary bank  4,772   4,617   5,323  
  Non-banking subsidiaries  58   172   72  
Net Income $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
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NOTE Q – SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
(CONTINUED) 
 
Statements of Cash Flows Year ended December 31,  
 2020  2019  2018  
Operating Activities          
Net income $ 7,386  $ 8,622  $ 8,125  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash          
  from operating activities:          
     Equity in net income, less dividends received from:          
       Subsidiary bank  (4,772 )  (4,617 )  (5,323 ) 
       Non-banking subsidiary  (58 )  (172 )  (72 ) 
     Stock option and restricted stock grant compensation expense  867   832   811  
     Depreciation of premises and equipment  32   31   31  
     Net change in obligation under ESOP  99   166   126  
     Other, net  (97 )  455   (163 ) 
     Net cash from operating activities  3,457   5,317   3,535  
          
Financing Activities           
Repayments of other borrowings  (1,000 )  (1,000 )  (1,000 ) 
Cash dividends paid  (2,131 )  (2,087 )  (1,998 ) 
Stock options exercised  3   3   471  
Purchase of ESOP shares  -   (382 )  -  
Repurchase of common stock  (1,008 )  (562 )  (1,455 ) 
     Net cash from financing activities  (4,136 )  (4,028 )  (3,982 ) 
          
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (679 )  1,289   (447 ) 
Beginning cash and cash equivalents  2,008   719   1,166  
          
Ending cash and cash equivalents $ 1,329  $ 2,008  $ 719  
 
 
NOTE R – SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES 
 
The following supplemental cash flow disclosures are provided for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 
2018 (in thousands): 
 2020  2019  2018  
Cash paid during the year for:          
     Interest $ 5,226  $ 6,401  $ 4,471  
     Income taxes  1,850   1,780   1,125  
          
Supplemental non-cash disclosures:          
     Change in deferred income taxes on net unrealized gain (loss) 
          on available-for-sale securities 

 
 1,174  

 
 333 

 
 

 
 (151 

 
) 

     Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets  -   2,895   -  
     Transfer from fixed assets to real estate owned  -   62   -  
     Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities  5,588   1,582   (718 ) 
     Transfers from loans to other real estate owned  57   60   81  
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NOTE S – FAIR VALUE INFORMATION 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair values for financial instruments, 
as well as for gaining an indication of where the instruments fall within the fair value hierarchy.  This is described in 
greater detail in Note T. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents:  The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value and 
results in a Level 1 classification. 
 
Securities available-for-sale:  Fair values for securities available-for-sale are based on quoted market prices, 
where available.  For all other securities, the Company obtains a current price from a broker trade desk.  The fair 
value measurements consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the 
U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit 
information, and bond terms and conditions, among other things.  Securities are classified as either Level 1, 2, or 
3.  See Footnote T for the hierarchy level breakdown. 
 
Loans, net:  For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and have no significant change in credit risk, fair 
values are based on carrying values and result in a Level 3 classification.  The fair values for other loans are 
estimated using discounted cash flows analyses, using interest rates currently offered for loans with similar terms 
to borrowers of similar credit quality and result in a Level 3 classification.   
 
Loans held for sale:  The fair value of loans held for sale is estimated based upon binding contracts and quotes 
from third party investors and results in a Level 2 classification. 
 
Accrued interest receivable:  The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value. 
 
Off-balance-sheet financial instruments:  The estimated fair value of off-balance-sheet financial instruments is 
based on current fees or costs that would be charged to enter or terminate the arrangements.  The estimated fair 
value is not considered significant for this presentation. 
 
Deposits:  The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (e.g., interest and non-interest checking, savings, and 
certain types of money market accounts) are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the 
reporting date (i.e., their carrying amounts) and result in a Level 2 classification.  Fair values for fixed-rate 
certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates based on 
the FHLB yield curve, resulting in a Level 2 classification. 

 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, overnight borrowings, and federal funds sold:  The 
carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value and results in a Level 2 classification. 
 
Other borrowings:  The fair value of other borrowings is estimated using discounted cash flows analyses using 
the FHLB yield curve.  This results in a Level 2 classification. 
 
Subordinated debentures:  The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value of the 
variable-rate subordinated debentures.  The fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow analyses.  Such 
analyses are based on the current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.  This results in a 
Level 3 classification. 
 
Accrued interest payable:  The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value. 
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
NOTE S – FAIR VALUE INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
While these estimates of fair value are based on management’s judgment of appropriate factors, there is no assurance 
that if the Company had disposed of such items at December 31, 2020, and 2019, the estimated fair values would have 
been achieved.  Market values may differ depending on various circumstances not taken into consideration in this 
methodology.  The estimated fair values at December 31, 2020, and 2019, should not necessarily be considered to 
apply at subsequent dates. 
 
In addition, other assets and liabilities that are not defined as financial instruments are not included in the following 
disclosures, such as property and equipment.  Furthermore, non-financial instruments typically not recognized in 
financial statements may have value, but are not included in the following disclosures.  These include, among other 
items, the estimated earnings power of core deposit accounts, the trained work force, customer goodwill, and similar 
items. 
 
The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at year-end are as follows (in thousands): 
 
 Fair  2020  2019  
 Value 

Hierarchy 
 Carrying 

Amount 
 Fair 

Value 
 Carrying 

Amount 
 Fair 

Value 
 

Financial assets:               
Cash and cash equivalents  Level 1  $ 99,610  $ 99,610  $ 68,723  $ 68,723  
Federal funds sold Level 2   231   231   265   265  
Securities available-for-sale See Note T   208,380   208,380   123,436   123,436  
Loans held for sale Level 2   1,691   1,691   1,171   1,171  
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses Level 3   628,081   631,919   557,680   555,767  
Accrued interest receivable Level 1   4,749   4,749   3,380   3,380  
               
Financial liabilities:               
Deposits Level 2  $ (838,298 ) $ (839,085 ) $ (655,762 ) $ (655,663 ) 
Securities sold under agreements to  
    repurchase and overnight borrowings Level 2 

  
(20,083 ) 

 
(20,083 ) 

 
(15,401 

 
) 

 
(15,401 

 
) 

Other borrowings Level 2   (26,500 )  (27,236 )  (37,500 )  (37,295 ) 
Subordinated debentures Level 3   (5,155 )  (5,155 )  (5,155 )  (5,155 ) 
Accrued interest payable Level 1   (187 )  (187 )  (272 )  (272 ) 
 
The preceding table does not include net cash surrender value of life insurance and dividends payable, which are also 
considered financial instruments.  The estimated fair value of such items is considered to be their carrying amount. 
 
The Company also has unrecognized financial instruments related to commitments to extend credit and standby letters 
of credit, as described in Note N.  The contract amount of such instruments is considered to be the fair value. 
 
NOTE T – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants.  A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability.  In the absence of a principal market, the 
most advantageous market for the asset or liability is used.  The price in the principal (or most advantageous) market, 
used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability, shall not be adjusted for transaction costs.  An orderly transaction 
is a transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a period prior to the measurement date to allow for marketing 
activities that are usual and customary for transactions involving such assets and liabilities; it is not a forced 
transaction.  Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal market that are (i) independent; (ii) 
knowledgeable; (iii) able to transact; and, (iv) willing to transact. 



67 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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Fair value must be determined using valuation techniques consistent with the market approach, the income approach, 
and/or the cost approach.  The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions involving identical or comparable assets and liabilities.  The income approach uses valuation techniques 
to convert future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present amount on a discounted basis.  The cost 
approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset 
(replacement cost).  Valuation techniques should be consistently applied.  Inputs to valuation techniques refer to the 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.  Inputs may be either: (i) observable, 
meaning those that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, developed 
based on market data obtained from independent sources; or (ii) unobservable, meaning those that reflect the reporting 
entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, 
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.  A fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs 
has been established that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. 
 
The fair value hierarchy is as follows: 
 

Level 1 Inputs – Unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting 
entity has the ability to access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 Inputs – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly.  These might include:  1) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active 
markets; 2) quoted prices for identical, or similar, assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; 3) inputs other 
than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment 
speeds, credit risks, etc.); or 4) inputs derived principally from, or corroborated by, market data by correlation or 
other means. 
 
Level 3 Inputs – Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an entity’s 
own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities. 

 
A description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general 
classification of such instruments, pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, follows.  These valuation methodologies 
were applied to all of the Company’s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value. 

 
In general, fair value is based upon quoted market prices, where available.  If such quoted market prices are not 
available, fair value is based upon internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, observable market-based 
parameters.  Valuation adjustments may be made to ensure that financial instruments are recorded at fair value.  These 
adjustments may include amounts to reflect counterparty credit quality, the company’s creditworthiness, among other 
things, as well as unobservable parameters.  Any such valuation adjustments are applied consistently over time.  The 
Company’s valuation methodologies may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable 
value or reflective of future fair values.  While management believes the Company’s valuation methodologies are 
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to 
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting 
date. 
 
Securities Available-for-Sale:  Securities classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair value utilizing Level 1, 
Level 2, and Level 3 inputs.  Unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets are utilized to determine 
fair value at the measurement date for Level 1 securities.  For all other securities, the Company obtains fair value 
measurements from an independent pricing service.  The fair value measurements consider observable data that may 
include dealer quotes, market spreads, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market 
consensus prepayment speeds, credit information, and the bond’s terms and conditions, among other things.  When 
there are unobservable inputs, such securities are classified as Level 3. 
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NOTE T – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Securities available-for-sale, when classified as Level 3 inputs, represent non-publicly traded municipal issues with 
limited trading activity from entities within the Company’s market area.  The fair value of these investments was 
determined using Level 3 valuation techniques, as there is no market available to price these investment securities.  
The method used for determining the fair value for these investment securities included a comparison to the fair value 
of other investment securities valued with Level 2 inputs with similar characteristics (credit, time to maturity, call 
structure, etc.) and the interest yield curve for comparable debt investment securities. 
 
Impaired Loans:  The Company does not record impaired loans at fair value on a recurring basis.  However, 
periodically, a loan is considered impaired and is reported at the fair value of the underlying collateral, less estimated 
costs to sell if repayment is expected solely from the collateral, or at estimated discounted cash flows if the credit is 
performing.  Impaired loans measured at fair value typically consist of loans on nonaccrual status and loans with a 
portion of the allowance for loan losses allocated specific to the loan.  Some loans may be included in both categories, 
whereas other loans may only be included in one category.  Collateral values are estimated using Level 2 and Level 3 
inputs, including recent appraisals and customized discounting criteria, which include the discounting of appraisals 
based on age, changes in the property, or market conditions.  These discounts generally range from 10% to 25%, and 
include a discount for estimated selling costs of 10%.  Estimated cash flows are discounted considering the loan rate 
and current market rates; such discounts generally range from 3.9% to 6.4%.  Due to the significance of the Level 3 
inputs, impaired loans have been classified as Level 3. 
 
Other Real Estate Owned (OREO):  The Company values OREO at the fair value of the underlying collateral, less 
expected selling costs.  Collateral values are estimated primarily using discounted appraisals and reflect a market value 
approach.  These discounts generally range from 25% to 55%.  Due to the significance of unobservable inputs used in 
estimating fair value, OREO has been classified as Level 3. 
 
Interest Rate Swaps:  Interest rate swap valuations are determined using proprietary pricing models with inputs that 
are observable in the market or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.  The 
valuations utilize certain Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default 
by the Company and its counterparties.  These credit valuation adjustments do not significantly impact the overall 
valuation of swap positions and the swap valuations are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The following table summarizes financial and non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities measured at fair value 
as of December 31, 2020, and 2019.  Information is segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the fair 
value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value (in thousands): 
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2020 

Level 1 
Inputs 

  Level 2 
Inputs 

   Level 3 
Inputs 

 Total 
Fair Value 

Recurring:            
Assets:            
     Securities available-for-sale:            
        Federal agencies $ -  $ 49,366  $ -  $ 49,366 
        States and political subdivisions  -   106,768   25,693   132,461 
        Asset-backed securities  -   26,553   -   26,553 
          Total available-for-sale $ -  $ 182,687  $ 25,693  $ 208,380 
            
     Interest rate swaps  $ -  $ 1,598  $ -  $ 1,598 
            
Liabilities            
     Interest rate swaps  $ -  $ 1,598  $ -  $ 1,598 
            
Nonrecurring assets:            
     Impaired loans  $ -  $ -  $ 3,820  $ 3,820 
     Other real estate owned:            
         Commercial $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
         Residential real estate $ -  $ -  $  -  $ - 
 
 
2019 

Level 1 
Inputs 

  Level 2 
Inputs 

   Level 3 
Inputs 

 Total 
Fair Value 

Recurring:            
Assets            
     Securities available-for-sale:            
        Federal agencies $ -  $ 31,746  $ -  $ 31,746 
        States and political subdivisions  -   39,119   25,618   64,737 
        Asset-backed securities  -   26,953   -   26,953 
          Total available-for-sale $ -  $ 97,818  $ 25,618  $ 123,436 
            
     Interest rate swaps  $ -  $ 868  $ -  $ 868 
            
Liabilities            
     Interest rate swaps  $ -  $ 868  $ -  $ 868 
            
Nonrecurring assets:            
     Impaired loans  $ -  $ -  $ 3,822  $ 3,822 
     Other real estate owned:            
         Commercial $ -  $ -  $ 62  $ 62 
         Residential real estate $ -  $ -  $ 21  $ 21 
 
 
Impaired loans are reported net of an allowance for loan losses of $524,000 at December 31, 2020, and $508,000 at 
December 31, 2019. 
 
Other real estate owned of $83,000 at December 31, 2019, was reported net of a valuation allowance of $34,000. 
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NOTE T – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of securities available-for-sale.  These are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs during the years ended 
December 31, 2020, and 2019 (in thousands): 
 
 2020  2019  
Balance at January 1 $ 25,618  $ 19,644  
Net maturities and calls  (6,639 )  (6,699 ) 
Unrealized net gains included in other comprehensive income  1,070   395  
Purchases  5,644   12,278  
       
Balance at December 31 $ 25,693  $ 25,618  
 
 
NOTE U – REGULATORY MATTERS 
 
Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking 
agencies.  Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations, involve 
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting 
practices.  Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators.  Failure to meet 
capital requirements can initiate regulatory action that could have a direct material adverse effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.  Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies.  These capital 
requirements were modified in 2013 with the Basel III capital rules, which established a new comprehensive capital 
framework for U.S. banking organizations.  These rules were fully phased in by December 31, 2019. 
 
The prompt corrective action regulations provide five capital categories, including well capitalized, adequately 
capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are 
not used to represent overall financial condition.  If adequately capitalized or worse, regulatory approval is required 
to, among other things, accept brokered deposits.  If undercapitalized, capital distributions and asset growth are 
limited, while plans for capital restoration are required. 
 
Under the amended Small Bank Holding Company Policy Statement (Regulation Y, Appendix C) (the “Policy 
Statement”) the Company qualifies for treatment as a small bank holding company and is no longer subject to 
consolidated capital rules. 
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At year-end, actual capital levels and minimum required levels were as follows (in thousands): 
 
  

 
 
 

Actual 

  
 

Minimum Required 
For Capital 

Adequacy Purposes 

 Minimum Required 
To Be 

Well Capitalized 
Under Prompt Corrective 

Action Regulations 
 Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio 
2020               
               
Total Capital to risk weighted assets:               
  Consolidated $ 87,727     12.7 %  N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 90,091  13.1   $ 55,165     8.0 %  $ 68,956  10.0 % 
Tier 1 (Core) Capital to risk weighted 
assets: 

              

  Consolidated 79,938  11.6   N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 82,302  11.9   41,374  6.0   55,165  8.0  
Common Tier 1 Capital to risk 
weighted assets (CET1): 

              

  Consolidated 79,938  11.6   N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 82,302  11.9   31,030  4.5   44,822  6.5  
Tier 1 (Core) Capital to average 
assets: 

              

  Consolidated 79,938  8.5   N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 82,302  8.7   37,743  4.0   47,178  5.0  
 
 
2019               
               
Total Capital to risk weighted assets:               
  Consolidated $ 79,869     12.6 %  N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 82,678  13.1   $ 50,387     8.0 %  $ 62,984  10.0 % 
Tier 1 (Core) Capital to risk weighted 
assets: 

              

  Consolidated 74,685  11.8   N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 77,494  12.3   37,790  6.0   50,387  8.0  
Common Tier 1 Capital to risk 
weighted assets (CET1): 

              

  Consolidated 74,685  11.8   N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 77,494  12.3   28,343  4.5   40,940  6.5  
Tier 1 (Core) Capital to average 
assets: 

              

  Consolidated 74,685  9.3   N/A  N/A   N/A  N/A  
  Bank 77,494  9.7   31,931  4.0   39,913  5.0  
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NOTE V – QUALIFIED AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROJECT INVESTMENTS 
 
The Company invests in qualified investment housing projects.  At December 31, 2020, and 2019, the balance of the 
investment for qualified affordable housing projects was $676,000 and $770,000, respectively.  These balances are 
reflected in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.  Total unfunded commitments related to the investments 
in qualified affordable housing projects totaled $225,000 and $433,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019.  The 
Company expects to fulfill these commitments by the year ending 2033. 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Company recognized amortization expense of 
$94,000, $69,000, and $63,000, respectively, which was included in the income tax provision in the consolidated 
statements of income. 
 
Additionally, during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Company recognized tax credits and 
other benefits from its investment in affordable housing tax credits of $84,000, $61,000, and $43,000, respectively. 
 
NOTE W – REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
 
The Company’s primary sources of revenue include net interest income, service charges and fees, trust fees, gains on 
the sale of loans, earnings on life insurance assets, and ATM and debit card fee income.  Net interest income, gains 
on the sale of loans, securities and other assets, as well as earnings on life insurance assets are outside of the scope of 
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  Other sources of revenue fall within the scope of ASC 606 and 
are primarily recognized within "Non-interest income" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
 
The Company recognizes revenue when the performance obligations related to the transfer of goods or services under 
the terms of a contract are satisfied.  Some obligations are satisfied at a point in time, while others are satisfied over a 
period of time.  Revenue is recognized as the amount of consideration expected to be received in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer and is segregated based on the nature of product and services offered as 
part of contractual arrangements.  Generally, these sources of revenue are earned at the time the service is delivered 
or over the course of a monthly period and they do not result in any contract asset or liability balance at any given 
period end.  As a result, there were no contract assets or liabilities recorded.  Revenue within the scope of ASC 606 is 
discussed in the following paragraphs. 
 
Service charges on deposit accounts include fees and other charges the Company receives to provide various services. 
The charges include, but are not limited to, monthly service fees, account analysis fees, providing overdraft services, 
and accepting and executing stop-payment orders.  The consideration includes both fixed (e.g., monthly service fees) 
and transaction fees (i.e., stop-payment fees).  Fixed fees are recognized over the period of time the service is provided 
while transaction fees are recognized when a specific service is rendered to the customer.  
 
Trust fees include fee income generated from investment management services.  Services are rendered over a period 
of time, over which revenue is recognized. 
 
ATM and debit card fees primarily include debit card interchange and network revenues.  Debit card interchange and 
network revenues are earned on debit card transactions conducted through payment networks such as MasterCard and 
Pulse.  Interchange income is recognized concurrently with the delivery of services on a daily basis.  Interchange and 
network revenues are presented gross of interchange expenses, which are presented separately as a component of non-
interest expense. 
 
Other non-interest income includes check orders, wire transfer fees, check cashing fees, cash management fees, and 
other service charges totaling $486,000, $453,000 and $331,000 during 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.  The 
Company's performance obligation for cash management fees is generally satisfied, and therefore, revenue is 
recognized over the period in which the service is provided.  Check orders, wire transfer fees, check cashing fees, and 
other deposit account related fees are largely transaction based, and therefore, the performance obligation is satisfied, 
and related revenue recognized, at a point in time.  These fees are included in the Other category of “Non-interest 
income”. 
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NOTE W - REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED) 
 
Contract Balances 
A contract asset balance occurs when an entity performs a service for a customer before the customer pays 
consideration (resulting in a contract receivable) or before payment is due (resulting in a contract asset).  A contract 
liability balance is an entity's obligation to transfer a service to a customer for which the entity has already received 
payment (or payment is due) from the customer.  The Company's non-interest income streams are largely based on 
transactional activity, or standard month-end revenue accruals, such as asset management fees based on month-end 
market values.  Consideration is most often received immediately or shortly after the Company satisfies its 
performance obligation and revenue is recognized.  The Company does not typically enter into long-term revenue 
contracts with customers, and therefore, does not experience significant contract balances.  As of December 31, 2020, 
and 2019, the Company did not have a material amount of contract balances. 
 
NOTE X – LEASES  
 
The Company enters into leases in the normal course of business primarily for business development offices and bank 
branches.  The Company’s leases have remaining terms ranging from 18 to 23 years, some of which include renewal 
options to extend the lease for up to 10 years.  The weighted average remaining lease term at December 31, 2020, was 
20.75 years. 
 
The Company includes lease extension options in the lease term if, after considering relevant economic factors, it is 
reasonably certain the Company will exercise the option.  
 
Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Right-of-use assets 
represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation 
to make lease payments arising from the lease.  Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease 
commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term. 
 
The Company used its incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to calculate the present value of lease 
payments when the rate implicit in a lease is not known.  The Company’s incremental borrowing rate is based on 
prime rate.  The weighted average discount rate at December 31, 2020, was 4.29%. 
 
Right-of-use assets are included in other assets and lease liabilities are included in accrued expenses and other 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.  At December 31, 2020, and 2019, the right-of-use assets totaled 
$2,739,000 and $2,826,000, respectively, and lease liabilities totaled $2,807,000 and $2,857,000, respectively. 
 
Rent expense under operating leases amounted to $185,000, $145,000, and $175,000 in 2020, 2019, and 2018, 
respectively.  Amortization of right-of-use assets totaled $87,000 and $69,000 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
Lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2020, were as follows (in thousands): 
 
2021 $ 188  
2022  190  
2023  190  
2024  194  
2025  194  
Thereafter  3,430  
Total future minimum lease payments  4,386  
Amounts representing interest  1,579  
Total lease liabilities $ 2,807  
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NOTE Y – DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Bank has entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a commercial customer to accommodate their 
borrowing needs.  In order to offset exposure and manage its own interest rate risk, the Bank simultaneously entered 
into an interest rate swap agreement with a correspondent bank counterparty with offsetting terms.  These agreements 
are considered by definition to be derivative instruments but are not designated as accounting hedges.  As a result, any 
changes in the net fair value of the instruments are recognized in non-interest income or expense.  Due to the nature 
of the offset in value between the agreements with the customer and the counterparty, the Bank does not expect to 
have any interest rate risk relating to these agreements and no amount was recognized as non-interest income or 
expense in 2020 or 2019.  The fair value of the instruments, amounting to $1,598,000 and $868,000 are included in 
other assets and accrued expense and other liabilities in the 2020 and 2019 consolidated balance sheets.   
 
The following tables present the derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, 
(Notional Amount and Fair Value in thousands): 
 

December 31, 2020 
Notional 
Amount  Fixed Rate Floating Rate  

 
Maturity  

 
Fair Value 

             
Customer interest rate swap 
Receive fixed/pay floating 

    1 Month LIBOR        
$ 10,856  4.5% +1.70%   7.2 yrs  $ 1,598 

Correspondent interest rate swap            
Pay fixed/receive floating  10,856  4.5% 1 Month LIBOR 

+ 1.70% 
  7.2 yrs   1,598 

 

December 31, 2019 
Notional 
Amount  Fixed Rate Floating Rate  

 
Maturity  

 
Fair Value 

             
Customer interest rate swap 
Receive fixed/pay floating 

    1 Month LIBOR        
$ 11,136  4.5% +1.70%   8.2 yrs  $ 868 

Correspondent interest rate swap            
Pay fixed/receive floating  11,136  4.5% 1 Month LIBOR 

+ 1.70% 
  8.2 yrs   868 

 
NOTE Z – QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) (UNAUDITED) 
 
  

Interest 
Income 

 Net 
Interest 
Income 

 Provision 
for Loan 
Losses 

  
Net 

Income 

 Earnings Per Share 
 

Basic 
 Fully 

Diluted 
2020                   
     First Quarter $ 7,977  $ 6,401  $ 1,000  $ 1,513  $ 0.66  $ 0.66  
     Second Quarter  8,025   6,691   750   1,831   0.79   0.79  
     Third Quarter  7,753   6,568   500   2,018   0.88   0.88  
     Fourth Quarter  8,063   7,017   350   2,024   0.88   0.88  
                   
2019                   
     First Quarter $ 7,836  $ 6,380  $ 150  $ 1,920  $ 0.83  $ 0.83  
     Second Quarter  8,192   6,579   -   2,326   1.01   1.01  
     Third Quarter  8,276   6,585   -   2,540   1.10   1.10  
     Fourth Quarter  8,249   6,582   75   1,836   0.80   0.80  
 
  

December 31, 2019 Pass 
 Special 

Mention 
 

Substandard  
 

Doubtful 
  Not Risk  

Rated 
   

Total 
                  
Commercial Real Estate $ 293,982  $ 15,725  $ 4,419  $ -  $ -  $ 314,126 
Commercial  95,927   13,187   -   -   -   109,114 
Agriculture  55,199   4,106   228   -   -   59,534 
Real Estate Mortgage  18,354   556   346   -   58,332   77,587 
Consumer  -   -   -   -   3,674   3,674 
                  
Total $ 463,462  $ 33,574  $ 4,993  $ -  $ 62,006  $ 564,035 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
(in thousands, except per share data) 
 Year Ended December 31  
 2020  2019  2018  2017  2016  
Total interest income $ 31,818  $ 32,553  $ 29,782  $ 25,351  $ 22,031  
Net interest income  26,677   26,126   25,284   22,583   20,217  
Provision for loan losses  2,600   225   250   175   100  
Net income  7,386   8,622   8,125   5,421   6,097  
Per share data:                
     Basic earnings per share  3.21   3.74   3.52   2.30   2.54  
     Cash dividends declared  0.92   0.91   0.87   0.83   0.76  
Balance sheet data:                
     Gross loans  635,870   562,864   531,974   523,447   449,815  
     Deposits  838,298   655,762   605,893   577,144   535,845  
     Other borrowings  26,500   37,500   28,500   39,500   10,200  
     Equity  92,977   83,345   75,527   70,037   70,131  
     Total assets  997,574   809,716   738,831   712,345   641,532  
Return on average assets  0.82 %  1.09 %  1.11 %  0.80 %  1.00 % 
Return on average equity (1)  8.36   10.74   11.21   7.64   8.69  
Dividend payout ratio (2)  28.82   24.47   24.87   36.08   30.26  
Average equity to average assets (1)  9.80   10.20   9.92   10.52   11.49  
 
(1) Average equity in the above table includes common shares subject to a repurchase obligation held in the 

Company’s ESOP plan and includes average unrealized appreciation or depreciation on securities available-for-
sale. 

(2) Dividends declared, divided by net income. 
 
COMMON STOCK MARKET PRICES AND DIVIDENDS 
 
The Company’s common stock is regularly quoted on the OTC Pink, under the symbol SOMC.  The sale prices 
described below are quotations reflecting inter-dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown, or commissions, and 
may not necessarily represent actual transactions.  As of March 15, 2021, there were 2,292,326 shares of Southern 
common stock, issued and outstanding, held by 299 holders of record. 
 
The following table sets forth the range of high and low closing sales prices and dividends declared on the Company’s 
common stock for the two most recent fiscal years: 
 
 2020  2019 
     Cash 

Dividends 
Declared 

     Cash 
Dividends 
Declared 

 Closing Price   Closing Price  
 High   Low    High   Low   
Quarter Ended                  
March 31 $ 39.80  $ 26.00  $ 0.23  $ 39.50  $ 37.05  $ 0.22 
June 30  30.00   25.05   0.23   38.75   36.25   0.23 
September 30  36.50   27.75   0.23   38.75   37.00   0.23 
December 31  34.00   29.02   0.23   39.14   37.20   0.23 
 
There are restrictions that currently limit the Company’s ability to pay cash dividends.  Information regarding dividend 
payment restrictions is described in Note O to the consolidated financial statements. 



PROVIDING ESSENTIAL 
SERVICES DURING 
UNPRECEDENTED TIMES.

BATTLE CREEK BRANCH
5350 East Beckley Road

Battle Creek, MI 49015

COLDWATER MAIN OFFICE
51 West Pearl Street

Coldwater, MI 49036

COLDWATER WEST CHICAGO 
2 West Chicago Street

Coldwater, MI 49036

COLDWATER EAST CHICAGO 
*Drive Thru Location Only

441 East Chicago Street

Coldwater, MI 49036

CENTREVILLE BRANCH
235 East Main Street 

Centreville, MI 49032

CONSTANTINE BRANCH
345 North Washington Street

Constantine, MI 49042

HILLSDALE BRANCH
10 East Carleton Road

Hillsdale, MI 49242

I N  A D D I T I O N  TO  O U R  
N E A R BY  LO C AT I O N S ,  
S O U T H E R N  O F F E R S  A  
N U M B E R  O F  C O N V E N I E N T  
B R A N C H L E S S  B A N K I N G  
A LT E R N AT I V E S :
O N L I N E  &  M O B I L E  
B A N K I N G ,  O N L I N E  
M O R TG A G E  
A P P L I C AT I O N S ,  
T E L E P H O N E  B A N K I N G ,  
P E R S O N A L  T E L L E R  
M A C H I N E S  ( P T M )  &  M O R E

Scan the QR Code to find 

a location near you:

MARSHALL BRANCH
1110 West Michigan Avenue

Marshall, MI 49068

MENDON BRANCH
136 North Nottawa Street

Mendon, MI 49072

PORTAGE BRANCH
531 West Kilgore Road

Portage, MI 49024

PORTAGE TRADE CENTRE 
650 Trade Centre Way, Suite 120

Portage, MI 49002

TEKONSHA BRANCH
202 North Main Street

Tekonsha MI, 49092

THREE RIVERS BRANCH
225 US 131

Three Rivers, MI 49093

UNION CITY BRANCH
225 North Broadway Street

Union City, MI 49094

Our Locations

Wealth Management o�ces at 2 West Chicago Street, in Coldwater

Wealth Management o�ces at 2 West Chicago Street, in Coldwater
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